# Investigating Ruminal Nitrogen Metabolism

In Vitro and In Vivo Studies Using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled Forage Nitrogen Fractions

Merko Vaga

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Agricultural Research for Northern Sweden Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2017 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2017:34

Cover: Growing for science, red clover, timothy, silo and N fractionation (photo: M. Vaga)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8841-5 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8842-2 © 2017 Merko Vaga, Umeå Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2017

### Investigating ruminal nitrogen digestion kinetics using <sup>15</sup>Nlabelled forage nitrogen fractions

#### Abstract

Nitrogen losses from dairy production have negative impacts on the environment and on production economics. In Northern Europe, dairy cattle are mainly fed forage-based diets supplemented with protein feeds such as rapeseed meal. This thesis sought to develop and evaluate new methods for forage protein evaluation and to improve the value of locally produced protein feeds.

Ruminal metabolism of the grass silage soluble nitrogen (SN) fraction and of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia was modelled based on degradation kinetics determined *in vivo*. Kinetic models were developed to provide an optimal fit between predicted and observed values of <sup>15</sup>N atom excess in different rumen N pools. Microbial N synthesis was around 20% greater with soluble non-ammonia N (SNAN) than with ammonia N, proving that SNAN stimulates microbial growth. The protozoal contribution to direct protein degradation in cows fed at high intake was rather small, with around 95% of protozoal N originating from bacterial N. An estimated 12.5% of SNAN escaped ruminal degradation.

The *in vitro* degradation rates of SN fractions were very similar to those observed in other *in vitro* studies, but much lower than those measured *in vivo*. Immediate predicted microbial uptake of SN in grass silage was similar to that observed *in vivo* (20% and 14%, respectively), but significantly greater for red clover SN fractions (> 50%). Proportionally more grass silage insoluble N was degraded (detected) to ammonia N than of red clover, and of dried forages than of silage. Dried forage had a higher concentration of utilisable crude protein (uCP) than silage.

Heat treatment of legume seeds (field bean, lupin and peas) increased uCP concentrations, but high temperatures (over 140°C in oven or 120°C in autoclave for more than 30 min) also significantly increased the indigestible N fraction in the feeds.

The *in vitro* method shows potential for estimating uCP concentrations, but requires further development to estimate degradation of proteins *in vivo*. Using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled forages is a promising method for future protein metabolism studies.

*Keywords:* dairy cow, modelling, utilisable crude protein, silage, hay, microbial protein, soluble protein, *in vitro*, heat treatment, protein value

*Author's address:* Merko Vaga, SLU, Department of Agricultural Research for Northern Sweden, 90183, Umeå, Sweden

E-mail: merko.vaga@slu.se; merko.vaga@gmail.com

# Contents

List of Publications Abbreviations			
1.1	Ruminants and humans	11	
1.2	The digestive tract and its function for nitrogen metabolism	13	
1.3	Nitrogen metabolism in ruminants		
	1.3.1 Rumen microbiology	15	
	1.3.2 Proteolysis	17	
	1.3.3 Microbial synthesis	18	
	1.3.4 Rumen-undegradable crude protein	20	
	1.3.5 Small intestine	21	
	1.3.6 Hindgut	22	
1.4	Methods for measuring protein value	22	
	1.4.1 In vivo methods	22	
	1.4.2 In situ methods	23	
	1.4.3 In vitro methods	25	
1.5	Influencing forage protein value	27	
	1.5.1 Ensiling	28	
	1.5.2 Hay	29	
	1.5.3 Legumes versus grass	30	
	1.5.4 Protein supplements	31	
2	Objectives	33	
3	Materials and methods	34	
3.1	Paper I	34	
3.2	Paper II	34	
3.3	Paper III	35	
3.4	Paper IV	36	
4	Results	37	
4.1	Paper I		
4.2	Paper II	37	
4.3	Paper III	38	
4.4	Paper IV	39	

5	Discussion	41
5.1	Evaluation of protein quality in vitro	41
	5.1.1 In vitro versus in vivo	41
	5.1.2 In vitro versus in situ	44
	5.1.3 Utilisable CP approach	47
5.2	Using <sup>15</sup> N in rumen studies	48
	5.2.1 Microbial marker	48
	5.2.2 Ammonia and urea <sup>15</sup> N kinetics	49
	5.2.3 Using <sup>15</sup> N labelling of plant N fractions	49
5.3	Improving forage protein value	51
	5.3.1 Formic acid and formaldehyde treatment	51
	5.3.2 Hay versus silage	52
	5.3.3 Red clover versus grass	54
5.4	Altering legume seed protein value by heating	57
6	Conclusions	59
7	Future perspectives	61
8	Popular scientific abstract	63
Refe	erences	65
Ackı	nowledgements	82

## List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I M. Vaga, M. Hetta and P. Huhtanen (2016). Effects of heat treatment on protein feeds evaluated *in vitro* by the method of estimating utilisable crude protein at the duodenum. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, doi:10.1111/jpn.12646.
- II S. Ahvenjärvi, M. Vaga, A. Vanhatalo, and P. Huhtanen (2017). Ruminal Metabolism of Grass Silage Soluble N fractions. *Journal of Dairy Science* (submitted)
- III M. Vaga and P. Huhtanen. *In vitro* investigation of the ruminal digestion kinetics of different nitrogen fractions of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled timothy. (manuscript).
- IV M. Vaga and P. Huhtanen. *In vitro* investigation of the ruminal digestion kinetics of different nitrogen fractions of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled red clover. (manuscript).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Merko Vaga to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planning the experimental work jointly with the co-authors, performing the experiments, processing the data and writing the manuscript
- II Processing the data and writing the manuscript
- III Planning the experimental work jointly with the co-authors, performing the experiments, processing the data and writing the manuscript
- IV Planning the experimental work jointly with the co-authors, performing the experiments, processing the data and writing the manuscript

# Abbreviations

<sup>15</sup> NEP	<sup>15</sup> N atom% excess pool
AA	Amino acid
ADIN	Acid detergent insoluble
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
СР	Crude protein
DM	Dry matter
EPD	Effective protein degradability
FAS	Formic acid treated silage
ISN	Insoluble N
ME	Metabolisable energy
NAN	Non-ammonia N
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
NDIN	Neutral detergent insoluble N
OM	Organic matter
PPO	Polyphenol oxidase
RUP	Rumen undegradable protein
SN	Soluble N
SNAN	Soluble non-ammonia N
uCP	Utilisable crude protein at the duodenum
uCP <sub>16</sub>	uCP at duodenum estimated with assumed 16 h retention time
uSCP	Utilisable substrate CP at duodenum
uSCP <sub>16</sub>	uSCP at duodenum estimated with assumed 16 h retention time
UTS	Untreated silage
VFA	Volatile fatty acids

## 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Ruminants and humans

Ever since the domestication of cattle and sheep around 7000 BC, ruminants have played an important role for human livelihoods (Van Soest, 1994). Ruminants are a significant source of food and provide various other necessary commodities such as clothing materials, fertilisers, transport and traction. Therefore in some cultures domestic ruminants are a symbol of economic status and wellbeing. The successful symbiotic relationship between humans and ruminant livestock developed largely because ruminants did not compete for food with humans. For a very long time in history, grass, straw and other fibrous plant materials that are not suitable for human food have been the main source of food for ruminants. Ruminants in return provide humans with highquality proteins in the form of milk and meat. Furthermore, there is evidence that animal proteins, especially milk proteins, have higher biological value for humans than human-edible plant proteins (Hoffman and Falvo, 2011). Humanedible plant proteins are food proteins that are typically used directly for human consumption and have nutritional value for humans, such as grains and legume seeds. Today the importance of quality food production is as high as ever. In 2014, over 326 million beef animals and 813 million dairy animals (buffalo, cattle, sheep, goats) provided over 68 million tonnes of meat and over 801 million tonnes of milk for humans on a global scale (FAOSTAT, 2014). Beef and sheep meat make up 26% of the total amount of meat produced in the world from livestock (FAOSTAT, 2014). The intensification of livestock production has led to higher yields, but also to changes in agricultural practices. To achieve high productivity in ruminant livestock, high-quality, human-edible grain and protein feeds have been included in their diet (Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009). Compared with other domestic animals such as swine and poultry, the conversion ratio of total protein for lamb and beef production is many times higher, on average 30 and 24 kg/kg compared with 4.3 and 3.0 kg/kg total protein for pig and poultry meat (Figure 1), and total protein conversion for milk is about 5.6 kg/kg total protein (Wilkinson, 2011). However, the conversion factor of human-edible protein to animal proteins used in milk and beef production is only 0.71 and 0.9 kg/kg human-edible protein, compared with 2.6 and 2.1 kg/kg for pig and poultry meat, respectively (Wilkinson, 2011). It is possible to produce high-quality protein in growing or lactating ruminants even without inputs of human-edible proteins, *e.g.* by keeping the animals on pasture without any concentrate supplements. Therefore, the much higher conversion ratio of human-edible protein to animal proteins in other livestock diets compared with ruminants makes them less efficient animals to produce quality dietary proteins for humans. These ratios of course change depending on the intensity and global location of the production systems.



*Figure 1.* Total and human-edible protein conversion ratio (input per unit of output) (Source: Wilkinson, 2011)

As for every other living organism, protein is an essential feed component for ruminants. Proteins are needed for cell growth and production. With intensive farming practices and growing awareness of the need for environmental sustainability, official demand for efficient utilisation of feed proteins and reduced nitrogen (N) excretion from dairy farming is growing (EU Directive 2000/60/EC). The overproduction of milk and meat in Europe and the USA in recent years (Eurostat, 2016; USDA, 2017) shows that it is not necessary to reach maximum production, but rather to improve the efficiency. From a farmer's point of view, efficient use of N is important for profits, since protein is the most expensive feed component and usually has a high impact on production.

## 1.2 The digestive tract and its function for nitrogen metabolism

The rumen is the largest and the most complex compartment of the ruminant digestion system, where the feed is degraded by microorganisms that live in symbiosis with the ruminant animal (Figure 2). Microbial digestion of structural carbohydrates is what gives ruminants the ability to utilise low-quality feeds more efficiently than monogastric animals. However, the



*Figure 2.* Protein pathways in the ruminant. (Source: J. Bryant and B. R., Moss Montana State University)

marginal efficiency of utilisation of supplementary protein is low in dairy cows fed typical Nordic high-quality diets. For example, it has been shown that only 10% of incremental crude protein ( $CP = N \times 6.25$ ) intake from soybean concentrate is converted to milk protein (Huhtanen *et al.*, 2011). In growing cattle, marginal protein efficiency is even lower (Huuskonen *et al.*, 2014). These low marginal responses question the sustainability of using high-quality protein supplements such as soybean meal for ruminants with low efficiency. The poor efficiency of protein utilisation may lead to overfeeding of expensive feed supplements, inefficient utilisation of protein feeds by cows and increased N excretion to the environment. However, in order to maintain reasonably high production with dairy cows, an optimal level of high-quality protein and energy is needed.

According to NRC (2001), up to 23% CP in feed is theoretically needed to maximise milk production by dairy cattle. However, feeding such large protein quantities would lead to reduced milk N use efficiency (Figure 3; Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009). Meeting the N requirements of rumen microbes with minimal ammonia losses from the rumen and meeting the amino acid (AA) requirements of the host animal with a minimal amount of rumen-undegradable protein (RUP) is optimum from a biological point of view (Schwab *et al.*, 2005).



*Figure 3.* Relationship between CP concentration in the diet and milk N efficiency (Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009)

Ammonia production is a biological step in protein degradation, but sufficient energy is needed for microbial protein synthesis from ammonia (Russell *et al.*, 1983). Therefore there is no need to feed excessive amounts of protein feeds to dairy cows and expect maximum milk yields. Excessive protein supply and/or lack of energy supply to cows lead to overproduction of ammonia N and increased excretion of N in faeces and urine (NRC, 2001). Protecting proteins from microbial degradation in the rumen by processing methods (*e.g.* heat) may lead to low microbial efficiency (Van Straalen and Tamminga, 1990) and the increase in the supply of absorbed AA may be less than expected. Microbial protein synthesis is important, as it provides the majority of protein supplied to the small intestine, accounting for 50-80% of total absorbable protein in the small intestine (Storm and Ørskov, 1983). As ruminants and rumen microbes have evolved together, the AA composition of

microbial protein should be more favourable for the ruminant animal than protein from many other sources. However, the benefits of converting feed protein to microbial protein are lower when high-quality protein is fed.

## 1.3 Nitrogen metabolism in ruminants

What makes ruminants different from most other mammals is the presence of the fore stomachs. The whole digestion system that is directly involved in the digestion process can be divided into the following compartments: rumen, reticulum, omasum, abomasum, small intestine, caecum and large intestine or hindgut. From a ruminant nutrition viewpoint, the most important compartments for protein digestion and N absorption are the rumen, small intestine and hindgut. Very different mechanisms are involved in the digestion process in various parts of the digestive tract and the presence of the rumen makes ruminant metabolism complicated to understand. For example, ruminal metabolism modifies dietary CP both quantitatively and qualitatively, making evaluation of the protein value of feeds and diets more complicated in ruminants than in simple-stomached animals.

Supporting microbial synthesis is paramount for ruminants, as microbes provide the necessary AA for the animal without requiring AA themselves. The microbial AA composition remains relatively constant despite the diet (Storm and Ørskov, 1983). Therefore dairy cows can survive and produce moderate levels of milk with diets that do not contain AA nitrogen. Virtanen (1966) conducted experiments where dairy cows were fed urea as a sole N source for extended period of times with cows still producing 4200 kg milk/year, well comparable to production level on practical farms at that time, without any ill effects. This demonstrates the importance of ruminal microbiology and the symbiosis with its host animal.

### 1.3.1 Rumen microbiology

The rumen and the reticulum are the first major compartments for digestion. However, the digestion of feed is not performed by the animal itself, but by a complex microbial community consisting of bacteria, protozoa, archaea and fungi (Van Soest, 1994). This complex community lives in symbiosis with the host animal, providing the host with energy in the form of volatile fatty acids (VFA) and AA through microbial degradation of plant material and *de novo* cell synthesis. Bacteria account for about half of the microbial mass in the rumen (Ørskov and Ryle, 1990), but they do most of the fermentation work and contribute the majority of microbial protein flowing to the duodenum (Sylvester *et al.*, 2005). The number of different bacteria species present in the

rumen is large and new species are found all the time (Bryant, 1957; Firkins and Yu, 2008). A simplified grouping of bacteria would be according to their general functionality for amylolytic, cellulolytic and proteolytic bacteria and then secondary fermenters who utilise the end-products of primary fermentation (Van Soest, 1994).

Protozoa are the second largest group of microorganisms and form about 20-50% of microbial biomass. Despite being such a large group, their contribution to total microbial protein flow from the rumen is relatively small, due to relatively long retention time in the rumen. The contribution of protozoa to microbial N flow was on average 23% when determined using different techniques, according to a review by Hristov and Jouany (2005). The contribution of protozoa to degradation is also low and is limited to breakdown of small insoluble particulate proteins (Hino and Russell, 1987) with some peptide and AA breakdown (Broderick et al., 1991). With small amounts of soluble protein, AA and peptides in the rumen, the contribution of protozoa to dietary protein degradation can be very small. It is widely assumed that ruminal protozoa do not assimilate ammonia directly, but instead rely on a combination of ingested bacteria and food protein for their N requirements (Williams and Coleman, 1992). The main role of protozoa in influencing digestion is the engulfment and digestion of bacterial and fungal cells (Walker et al., 2005). This increases microbial lysis and is considered a wasteful cycle of bacterial protein breakdown. Removal of the protozoa (defaunation) by chemical therapy (e.g. monensin) or freezing the rumen contents (requires rumen evacuation) usually results in decreased diet digestibility and therefore any benefits from increased microbial protein flow can be lost (Koening *et al.*, 2000; Walker et al., 2005). Protozoa are a natural part of the rumen microbial community and none of the experimental antiprotozoal agents tested have made it into practical use (Williams and Coleman, 1992). Most of the studies investigating the effects of defaunation have been conducted in sheep fed at maintenance level.

The presence of anaerobic fungi in the rumen was discovered relatively recently (Orpin, 1975; Gordon and Phillips, 1998), as they were previously mistakenly considered to belong to the protozoa (Van Soest, 1994). The role of fungi in degradation mainly involves fibre break-down by very highly active cellulolytic enzymes (Lee *et al.*, 2000). Most studies conclude that fungi have some proteolytic activity, but that their contribution is low compared with that of other microbial communities (Walker *et al.*, 2005). Their biological significance can be higher in specific instances, *e.g.* in breakdown of resistant fibre-bound proteins (Yanke *et al.*, 1993).

About 0.3-3.3% of rumen microbial is archaea which are found free in the rumen fluid, attached to particulate material and rumen protozoa, associated as endosymbionts within rumen protozoa, and attached to the rumen epithelium (Janssen and Kirs, 2008). The ruminal archaea are strictly anaerobic methanogens using H<sub>2</sub> for growth and often formate for energy (Hungate *et al.*, 1970). Therefore their role in rumen metabolism is more important as secondary fermenters and do not contribute to direct degradation of feed (Henderson *et al.*, 2015). Since archaea contribute to CH<sub>4</sub> production in ruminants the interest in them is grown in connection to mitigation strategies (Hook *et al.*, 2010)

#### 1.3.2 Proteolysis

Proteolysis is the hydrolysis of protein to AAs and non-protein nitrogen (Van Soest, 1996). This process of protein breakdown starts already when the forage is cut in the field, involving the activation of proteolytic plant enzymes in the forage and microbial degradation (Papadopoulos and McKersie, 1983). Proteolysis is hampered by drying the grass for hay, but in the process of ensiling the fresh forage goes through the first major step of microbial degradation. In the rumen, dietary protein breakdown is a complex process involving different microorganisms and step-wise degradation to peptides and AA with ammonia as the end-products (Broderick *et al.*, 1991). A schematic representation of the process of protein degradation by rumen microbes is provided in Figure 4.

All ruminal microbes contribute to protein breakdown to some extent (Pfeffer and Hristov, 2005). However, bacteria are the main contributors to protein breakdown in the rumen. Up to 50% of the rumen bacteria may have proteolytic ability (Fulghum and Moore, 1963; Prins et al., 1983). The degradation of dietary proteins in the rumen begins with adsorption of soluble proteins to bacterial cell surfaces and bacterial attachment to insoluble proteins. Protozoa also exhibit proteolytic activity, but their role in rumen proteolysis is small (Nugent and Mangan, 1981). Microbes degrade dietary proteins to oligopeptides, small peptides, AA and ammonia. In experiments performed in *vitro* with casein it has been shown that there is an increase in peptides and a simultaneous decrease in proteins in the rumen, with gradual increases in AA concentration (Russell et al., 1983). Peptides are broken down in steps from oligopeptides to tri- and dipeptides and then further to AA, which are rapidly deaminated by microbes to ammonia. The concentration of free AA increases rapidly within 2 h after feeding, but then decreases rapidly within 2 hours thereafter (Brito et al., 2006). The increase in AA after feeding is due to a large proportion of the soluble protein in silage being converted to free AA (Hristov

and Sandev 1998). Soluble non-ammonia N (SNAN) entering the omasum mainly consists of peptides, suggesting that the rate of peptide breakdown is the main rate-limiting step in protein degradation (Choi *et al.*, 2002; Reynal *et al.*, 2007). The final step in breakdown of dietary proteins is the breakdown of AA to ammonia. Ammonia N is the major source of N for microbial protein synthesis.



*Figure 4.* Pathway of degradation of intact protein to ammonia by microorganisms in the rumen (Source: Broderick *et al.*, 1991).

#### 1.3.3 Microbial synthesis

The end-products of protein degradation (peptides, AA and ammonia) meet the N requirements of rumen microbes (Schwab *et al.*, 2005), while excess ammonia N is a product that the animal needs to excrete or recycle. With sufficient energy available, ammonia alone is an adequate source of N for protein synthesis (Leng and Nolan, 1984). It is important to have optimal concentrations of ruminal ammonia N to maintain maximised protein synthesis. Ruminal ammonia N concentrations of 50 to 85 mg/L have been suggested to be optimal to achieve maximum protein yield (Satter and Slyther, 1974; Kang-Meznarich and Broderick, 1980). The efficiency of microbial protein synthesis also depends on the balance between available dietary CP and energy (Russell *et al.*, 1983). Newbold and Rust (1992) observed reduced

bacterial growth *in vitro* when either N or carbohydrates were restricted. Consequently, both carbohydrates (energy) and N need to be present in the rumen to maximise microbial growth. Synchronisation of available CP and energy is suggested (Sinclair et al., 1995), but this is not an easy task, with research giving confounding results without provided perfect solutions (Sauvant and van Milgen, 1995). According to a review by Chamberlain and Choung (1995), the benefits of dietary synchronisation of energy and protein supply are marginal. Since microbial protein synthesis requires energy, excessive protein concentration in the diet does not improve production, but just increases ruminal ammonia concentration. The excess ammonia N is absorbed through the rumen wall, converted to urea in the liver and eventually excreted as urea. However, urea recycling can also be a useful survival strategy for ruminants when their diet is low in N. Ruminants are able to transfer urea through the blood back to the rumen via the salivary glands, where the urea in the saliva supports microbial protein synthesis, thereby supplying the host animal with valuable AA (Kennedy and Milligan, 1980). For the animal, ammonia absorption is far less valuable than converting it to microbial protein. The post-ruminal digestibility of microbial protein is relatively consistent at around 78-85% and therefore highly valuable (Hvelplund, 1985). Most evaluation systems assume a constant value of 85% for microbial protein digestion. Ammonia absorption is negatively affected by decreased ruminal pH, which is a delay function of ammonia absorption after a meal to favour microbial uptake (Sauvant and Milgen, 1995). Ammonia may be enough for microbial N synthesis, but microbes are also the only means of converting nonammonia N (NAN) into high-quality protein (Van Soest, 1994). Walker et al. (2005) suggest two possible benefits from AA supplementation: improved feed intake due to increased rate of microbial fermentation and increased growth vield of microorganisms. The presence of high concentrations of peptides and AA in the rumen has been shown to stimulate microbial protein synthesis. According to the Cornell net carbohydrate and protein system (Russell et al., 1992), the maximum relative improvement in the efficiency of microbial N synthesis is 0.187 for bacteria utilising non-fibrous carbohydrates. Broderick and Reynal (2009)replaced solvent-extracted soybean meal with lignosulphonate-treated soybean meal and urea in dairy cattle diets providing similar amounts of rumen-degradable and RUP. They found that microbial N flow decreased with an increasing proportion of treated soybean meal and urea, whereas ammonia N concentration increased, indicating that microbes were not limited by the ammonia N supply.

Increased feeding level increases passage rate and decreases microbial maintenance costs. The reduced ruminal retention time also increases the flow

of RUP. With high-quality dietary proteins, decreased degradation is generally considered beneficial (Van Soest, 1996). Predation on bacteria by ciliate protozoa leads to higher microbial protein turnover in the rumen. Increased passage rate leaves less time for predation and decreases ruminal recycling of bacterial protein (Walker et al., 2005). Diet quality and composition influence microbial synthesis in many ways. It is often claimed that ensiling forages has a negative influence on ruminal microbial protein synthesis. However, some of the few studies comparing hay and silage seem to suggest higher microbial N flow to the duodenum with silage (Holden et al., 1994; Martineau et al., 2007). Jaakkola and Huhtanen (1993) observed on average higher duodenal flow of microbial N with silage diets compared with hay diets. High-quality supplements of AA can increase microbial growth (NRC, 2001), but since proteins provide less energy (adenosine triphosphate, ATP) microbial synthesis from ammonia may be reduced. High-quality proteins also provide more digestible AA when they escape from ruminal degradation and are digested in the small intestine.

#### 1.3.4 Rumen-undegradable crude protein

Rumen-undegradable CP contains potentially digestible fractions only digestible post-ruminally, but also some completely indigestible CP. Some of the proteins escaping ruminal degradation are digested and absorbed in the small intestine, but the amount depends strongly upon the source of RUP. Forage proteins that escape microbial degradation are often poorly digested, but processed grains and protein feeds can have higher value when digested in the intestine than in the rumen (Owens et al., 1979). Edmunds et al. (2013) compared various forages and estimated that about 10-20% of forage CP is RUP. However, they found that the proportion of acid-detergent insoluble N (ADIN) in RUP, which is considered to be also indigestible in the lower digestive tract (Van Soest, 1994), is very high in forages and this would significantly decrease the value of RUP. Many studies have evaluated the RUP value of grain- and protein-rich dietary supplements (e.g. Santos et al., 1998; Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2005). Rumen-undegradable CP consists mainly of insoluble N fractions (NRC, 2001), but more recent studies have also shown significant escape of soluble fractions from microbial degradation in the rumen (Ahvenjärvi et al., 1999; Choi et al., 2002; Reynal et al., 2007). Since both peptides and AA can be absorbed in the small intestine, the escaped soluble N is valuable (Webb and Bergman, 1991). Thus RUP provides additional valuable protein to the animal and increases milk protein production, but only when ruminal microbial protein requirements are met (Wright et al., 1998). In fact, RUP is often considered more valuable than rumen-degradable protein

(Ørskov, 1976), but this is probably overvalued (Van Soest, 1996). Most protein supplements high in RUP are of animal origin, such as fishmeal, or are heat-treated in a process to protect them against ruminal degradation. In a short communication, Wang et al. (2008) reported increased N urinary excretion with higher rumen degradable protein to RUP ratio, but no effect on milk yield. Schwab et al. (1976) used AA infusion to the abomasum in six trials, but found no significant effect on milk production except for sodium caseinate, which increased fat-corrected milk production and milk protein concentration. The reviews by Santos et al. (1998) and Ipharraguerre and Clark (2005) concluded that increased RUP concentration in the diet compared with solvent-extracted soybean meal only marginally increased the total NAN outflow. The overall benefits with increased essential AA flow to the abomasum were lessened due to decreased microbial N flow. Furthermore, only marginal increases in milk or milk protein yield were found with high RUP supplements, mostly with feeds of animal origin which are no longer permitted for use in ruminant feeds in the EU.

#### 1.3.5 Small intestine

Peptic digestion, similar to that in non-ruminants, occurs in the abomasum, with the difference that the digesta passage in ruminants is a continuous process. To enable a high rate of microbial protein passage, secretion of lysozyme accompanies the acid and pepsin that quickly lyse microbes. The lysozyme in cows is approx. six-fold more resistant to pepsin inactivation than that found in monogastric animals and therefore protects microbial AA from pepsin digestion (Dobson et al., 1984). The main activity of the small intestine in ruminants is to absorb amino acids and peptides (Webb and Bergman, 1991). Different amino acids are absorbed at different locations in the intestine (Williams, 1969), indicating that the intestine is adapted to maximise AA absorption according to specific transporters of AA. In general, the transport of AA through the intestine mucosa is divided into simple diffusion, facilitated diffusion and active transport (Webb and Bergman, 1991). Peptide absorption has been proven to occur in the small intestine (Newey and Smith, 1960). Later studies have shown that a peptide and AA mixture has up to 80% higher absorption rate than AA alone, but peptides are absorbed against a concentration gradient, making this an energy-dependent process (Addison et al., 1975). There are some indications of peptide absorption from the omasum (Webb *et al.*, 1992), but the significance of this function has not been studied.

### 1.3.6 Hindgut

Hindgut fermentation in ruminants is a similar process to that which occurs in monogastric mammals. Undigested substrates such as neutral detergent fibre (NDF), starch and proteins go through a secondary microbial degradation process similar to that in the rumen (Feldhamer *et al.*, 2014). The similarity of the processes has been demonstrated by the fact that ruminant faecal matter is sometimes used as an *in vitro* inoculant and produces a similar degradation pattern to typical rumen fluid (Mould *et al.*, 2005; Ramin *et al.*, 2015). Protein sources available for hindgut fermentation are undigested feed and microbial N, endogenous N originating from the animal and ammonia N from recycled urea N. Fermentation end-products (and ammonia) can be absorbed from the hindgut, but synthesised microbial mass is lost in faeces. However, the importance of this process is when estimating total protein and nutrient digestion. Not taking this into account would lead to overestimation of the concentrations of metabolisable protein available to the animal.

## 1.4 Methods for measuring protein value

Microbial protein, RUP and, to a lesser extent, endogenous CP contribute to supplying metabolisable protein to the small intestine (NRC, 2001). All modern feed evaluation systems need accurate parameter estimates of the microbial N and RUP supply. The three general techniques used to measure feed protein quality and ruminal protein metabolism are the *in situ* or nylon bag method, *in vitro* rumen simulation and the *in vivo* whole animal method (Weiss, 1994).

### 1.4.1 In vivo methods

Evaluating protein degradation *in vivo* should be the preferred option, as the conditions are most natural and therefore the results represent most accurately the conditions for the animal. The requirements for this method are accurate feed intake and output measurements, cannulated animals and reliable digesta and microbial markers. Abdominal and/or duodenal cannulas in addition to the more widely used rumen cannula are often used. In principle, all methods for estimating protein metabolism are similar. The total nutrient intake of the animal is recorded and the flow and composition of the nutrients are estimated by taking samples through cannulas surgically inserted into the digestive tract. Measurements are made as frequently as possible/necessary to estimate the rate of digestion and passage of digesta. However, omasal sampling (Huhtanen *et al.*, 1997) through the rumen cannula has become the preferred method for

estimating microbial and RUP flow from the rumen, as it is less invasive and demonstrates good repeatability (Broderick et al., 2010). The greatest problem with all *in vivo* methods is the reliability of the digesta markers used (Lopez, 2005). The marker must not interfere with the digestion process, should not be absorbed (unless that's the purpose) and must follow accurately the dietary materials with which it is associated. Various studies have compared different digesta markers (e.g. Ahvenjärvi et al., 2003; Hansson, 2004; Kozloski et al., 2014) and microbial markers (Broderick and Merchen, 1992; Revnal et al., 2005). Most of these studies have concluded that the best results can be obtained using a combination of double markers (Facihney et al., 1975) or even triple markers (France and Siddons, 1986). The most frequently used marker combination today is probably CoEDTA as a liquid phase marker in combination with ytterbium (Yb), chromium (Cr) and/or indigestible NDF as particle markers and <sup>15</sup>N salts and purines as microbial markers (Broderick and Merchen, 1992; Ahvenjärvi et al., 2003). An advantage of <sup>15</sup>N compared with other markers is that it is a stable isotope with high analytical precision and that it permits determination of other N kinetics variables, e.g. the contribution of ammonia N to microbial N synthesis. The isotope <sup>15</sup>N is naturally occurring in very stable concentrations everywhere in the environment and in all flora and fauna that contain any N. This provides the possibility to use <sup>15</sup>N-enriched (excess <sup>15</sup>N over natural abundance) fertilisers or chemicals to label proteins in feeds or ammonia N, which can then be utilised in detailed N metabolism studies on animals and plants (Hristov et al., 2001; Huss-Danell and Chaia, 2005; Hristov *et al.*, 2005). However, the partitioning of  $^{15}N$  within the animal creates differences in natural delta values between substrates such as ruminal ammonia, blood urea, microbial N and urine and others, so these differences need to be considered (Cheng et al., 2012). In plant and environmental sciences, the atmospheric natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N and delta values of different plants, soils and animal faeces have been widely used to measure N transfer (Unkovich et al., 2008; Sjörgersten et al., 2010).

Overall, the *in vivo* methods for evaluating protein degradation provide valuable data and, at least for time being, remain the 'gold standard' against which to validate other methods. However, the amount of work and the need for surgically modified animals make *in vivo* methods too costly and impossible to use in routine work.

#### 1.4.2 In situ methods

The most widely used technique for estimating ruminal feed protein degradability is the *in situ* method. A method involving incubation of small amounts of feed in silk fibre bags within the rumen of sheep was first used by

Quin *et al.* (1938). However, the mathematical tools to estimate effective protein degradability (EPD) using *in situ* techniques developed by Ørskov and McDonald (1979) were the key factor behind *in situ* methods being such an extensively used method today (Hvelplund and Weisbjerg, 2000). The equation to estimate EPD from kinetic parameters is as:

 $EPD = A + B \times c / (c + k),$ 

where A is the proportion of CP degraded at time = 0. B is the fraction of protein that is degradable in infinite time, c is the degradation rate of fraction B and k is the passage rate of fraction B. NRC (2001) use also fraction C in the equation to describe completely undegradable fraction. The general concept of the in situ method is simple compared with other types of methods. Small amounts of feeds are weighed into nylon bags and placed into the rumen through a rumen cannula. The assumption is that the conditions in the bags are similar to those in the surrounding rumen. The disappearance of the contents of the bags is measured at different time points, usually up to 24-48 h (longer for forages) to determine the rate and extent of degradation. This is relatively easy to use and provides the possibility to evaluate many feeds routinely, which are the main reasons contributing to the popularity of this method. Another advantage is that the standard *in situ* method can be extended by using mobile bags to estimate total tract digestibility of RUP (Hvelplund et al., 1985; Vanhatalo et al., 1996). Most feed evaluation systems rely on the protein degradation parameters estimated in situ. However, almost every textbook description of the in situ method mentions several associated limitations (Broderick et al., 1991; Hvelplund and Weisbjerg, 2000). For example, the physical barrier of the nylon bag can restrict microbial access to the feed inside the bag compared with the surrounding digesta (Meyer and Mackie, 1986). Huhtanen et al. (1998) found the activity of cell wall-degrading enzymes within the bags to be only 35% of that in the surrounding rumen digesta. Moreover, microbial contamination of undegraded protein particles in the bag causes underestimation of protein degradation (Varvikko and Lindberg, 1985; Nocek and Grant, 1987). This is not a major problem for protein-rich feeds, but causes significant errors in prediction when using forages or other feeds with low CP and high NDF concentrations. Much research has been done to determine the best possible bag material characteristics for different analyses (Nocek, 1988; Valente et al., 2015). Another important limitation of the in situ method is the inability to estimate degradation of soluble N fractions of feeds. The soluble N and small feed particles escape the bags without being degraded and are therefore assumed to be degraded at an infinite rate (Ørskov and MacDonald, 1979; NRC, 2001). However, studies using an omasal sampling technique (Choi et al., 2002; Reynal et al., 2007) or <sup>15</sup>N-labelled feed N

fractions (Peltekova and Broderick, 1996; Choi et al., 2002;) have demonstrated that from 6.7% to around 20%, and possibly up to 30%, of SNAN from intake N escapes ruminal degradation (Hristov and Broderick, 1996). Part of the SNAN flowing to the duodenum can be of microbial origin (Choi et al., 2002; Reynal et al., 2007), but considering the rapid absorption of soluble proteins onto microbial surfaces, this may allow some of the soluble N to escape ruminal degradation before being incorporated into microbial cell protein. Broderick et al. (1988) compared degradation of several protein feeds and found that in situ measurements significantly underestimated the degradation rates of proteins compared with in vitro measurements. Taking into account that soluble proteins are not degraded at an infinite rate in protein evaluation systems is an improvement, but considering the wide range of degradation rates of various soluble protein sources, using constant degradation is still not ideal (Broderick et al., 1988; Huhtanen, 2017). These limitations and possible animal and diet differences contribute to low repeatability of the in situ method. Madsen and Hvelplund (1994) reported very poor reproducibility results from ring tests involving 23 laboratories in 17 different countries.

#### 1.4.3 In vitro methods

The *in vitro* technique is another relatively easy method for determining protein degradation kinetics. The basic principle of the *in vitro* technique is to incubate the substrate of interest in a biological medium to imitate ruminal conditions. In general, the variety of techniques used can be simply divided into methods estimating parameters by analysing the end-substrate composition or methods measuring and analysing degradation end-products such as gases and ammonia production. The pioneering work of Tilley and Terry (1963) was based on incubating small amounts of feed in ruminal fluid collected through rumen cannulas, or sometimes through the oesophagus using a stomach tube (Ramos-Morales et al., 2014). Analysis of the residues at the end of digestion allows the extent of microbial degradation to be determined. A second step involving acid-pepsin to simulate post-ruminal digestion and estimate in vivo organic matter (OM) digestibility may be included (Tilley and Terry 1963; Van der Meer, 1986). A similar pepsin-cellulase technique has been often used to eliminate the need for rumen fluid, collection of which requires surgically modified animals. As the name suggests, the pepsin-cellulase technique uses enzymatic degradation to estimate in vivo OM digestibility (Jones and Hayward, 1975). Considering the mixed rumen microbial population involved in protein degradation, it is unlikely that enzymatic methods can give more than a good empirical correlation with *in vivo* rumen degradation (Broderick *et* al., 1991).

Despite some alternatives, the more realistic conditions that can be achieved with rumen fluid-based in vitro methods mean that such methods are generally the primary choice for scientific purposes. In vitro systems like that described by Cone et al. (1996) use gas production caused by microbial fermentation to estimate degradation rates at different stages and total degradation. Several modifications have been proposed over time to estimate in vitro protein degradation parameters (Raab et al., 1983; Broderick, 1987; Krishnamoorthy et al., 1990; Lebzien and Voigt, 1999). A closed batch system in vitro removes the problem of escape of SNAN and does not limit microbial access to the feed, problems that occur in situ. However, these same advantages also set other limitations. In vitro methods lack the dynamic nature of the real rumen and the time required to reach a given digestibility or degradability can be shorter in a batch system because there is no escape of particles, and therefore predicted time is used to correspond to in vivo conditions (Varvikko and Vanhatalo, 1991). However, the lack of energy or substrate that arises without the balanced diet found in vitro may restrict the microbial efficiency. Raab et al. (1983) described a technique in which graded amounts of carbohydrates are added to rumen fluid and the resulting gas and ammonia production after 24 h incubation is used to calculate microbial protein. The method is based on extrapolation of the linear regression between ammonia N and gas production measured at different time points. The intercept then represents the ammonia N produced with zero carbohydrate addition and a degradation curve can be obtained. Theodorou et al. (1991, in Theodorou et al., 1994) presented a method where substrate is incubated in gas-tight bottles and accumulated gas pressure is measured by a pressure transducer connected to a digital voltmeter. Repeating this procedure at regular intervals during fermentation enables gas accumulation profiles to be constructed (Theodorou et al., 1994). This method has been further modified by Pell and Schofield (1993) to include a computer monitoring system, to allow fully automated continuous gas recordings. Moreover, Karlsson et al. (2009) have modified the system to allow multiple ammonia samplings from the same incubation vessel.

Ammonia is the main end-product of microbial degradation, so it can be used for estimation of microbial activity. However, quantifying the extent and rate of degradation by measuring ammonia N produced *in vitro* poses several difficulties. For example, microbes utilise degradation products for microbial N synthesis, which results in underestimation of degradation (Broderick, 1994). Another *in vitro* method, the IIV technique, inhibits microbial protein synthesis during degradation using hydrazine sulphate and chloramphenicol (Broderick, 1987). The ammonia N and total AA production is then measured to calculate rumen degradable protein. A severe limitation of this system is the accumulation of ammonia and inhibition of microbial N synthesis, which sets a time limit of 4 h to maximum 6 h. This is too short a time for estimation of the degradation of slowly degraded proteins. Another aspect to consider is that microbes do not degrade all proteins to ammonia, but a large proportion of proteins, especially soluble N, is directly taken up by microbes (Schwab *et al.*, 2005). Hristov and Broderick (1994) further modified the system by including <sup>15</sup>NH<sub>3</sub> to correct for microbial uptake. This method uses <sup>15</sup>N as a marker for ammonia N and allows degradation rates to be estimated by quantifying microbial N synthesis from ammonia N by determining changes in <sup>15</sup>N pool sizes of ammonia and/or non-ammonia (Ahvenjärvi *et al.*, 2009).

Determining microbial N synthesis and feed protein degradation separately increases the prediction error by adding errors from different estimation methods. One solution to avoid the tedious work of separating microbial and undegraded feed N and problems associated with in situ measurements is to predict the total utilisable protein at the duodenum as a single value (Lebzien and Voigt, 1999; Edmunds et al., 2012). A procedure described by Steingaß and Südekum (2013) uses ammonia N concentration at the end of *in vitro* incubation to quantify utilisable CP (uCP), which represents the NAN flow (microbial + feed) to the duodenum. Edmunds et al. (2012) found that this method required different incubation duration when forages or concentrate feeds are evaluated. Estimating uCP for complete diets may be more preferable, as it better reflects the *in vivo* animal conditions and balances protein and energy availability for microbial protein synthesis. There are suggestions that in vitro fermentation is optimal with about 24% water-soluble carbohydrates in the diet (Burke *et al.*, 2011). Using pre-incubation of rumen fluid, Karlsson et al. (2009) improved the repeatability and a good relationship between in vitro uCP and omasal NAN flow or milk protein yield has been observed (Gidlund et al., 2017, unpublished).

## 1.5 Influencing forage protein value

Protein quality is a major issue when feeding domestic animals. While ruminants are able to utilise different proteins sources, mainly forages, the efficiency of CP utilisation (milk N/N intake) is generally low, ranging from 16.4 to 40.2% (Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009). Furthermore, increasing dietary CP levels above the optimal range does not significantly increase milk yield (Wright *et al.*, 1998) but instead increases urinary N output and milk urea N (Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006), thereby decreasing the protein efficiency in the production system. Several studies have shown that increasing

dietary CP concentration from on average 160 to 190 g/kg CP does not further improve milk yield (Broderick, 2003; Groff and Wu, 2005; Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). Good quality forages, especially legumes, usually have a sufficient CP concentration to meet the above-mentioned requirements for dairy cattle. Unfortunately, the CP efficiency of forages is low, due to high degradability, fermentation losses in silages or particle losses during processing if stored as hay (McDonald, 1981; Van Soest, 1994).

#### 1.5.1 Ensiling

Ensiling forages is the most cost-efficient method of forage preservation. However, the ensiling process usually impairs protein quality and some energy (ATP) is lost through VFA and lactic acid production in the silo (Chamberlain, 1987). The basic idea of ensiling is to preserve forages (or some grains like barley) in acidic conditions caused by microbial fermentation of sugars under anaerobic conditions. Lactic acid production is the preferred end-product of silage fermentation. However, other less favourable processes such as carbohydrate and protein degradation to VFA, ammonia and CO<sub>2</sub> also occur during ensiling (Van Soest, 1994). These losses represent energy losses for both rumen microbes and host animals, but in relative terms the losses of available energy are much greater for rumen microbes. Different additives can be used either to restrict bacterial degradation or to stimulate lactic acid production during ensiling in order to improve the forage quality. Most commonly, formic and/or propionic acid-based additives to inhibit fermentation have been used for the past few decades. Formic acid-based additives decrease the pH of silage faster, restricting microbial activity, while the main benefit of propionic acid is to inhibit yeast and moulds and thus improve aerobic stability of silage. Jaakkola et al. (2006) compared the effect of different application rates (0 to 6 L/t fresh herbage) of formic acid on grass silage and observed a decrease in total acids from 126 to 27 g/kg and in soluble N from 746 to 610 g/kg N. While the formic acid treatment in that study effectively decreased protein degradation in the silo, ruminal CP degradability and flow of feed N at the duodenum were not significantly influenced by formic acid level. However, the flow of microbial N to the duodenum increased significantly with formic acid treatment, from 49.0 to 65.4 g/d (Jaakkola et al., 2006). Similarly, Nagel and Broderick (1992) reported 65% greater dietary NAN flow from the rumen of lactating Holstein cows when fed formic acid-treated alfalfa silage compared with untreated silage, while milk production increased from 29.2 to 32.6 kg/d and milk protein content increased from 2.74 to 2.90%. However, one of the reasons for these higher production responses is most likely the higher DM intake, and consequently higher N

intake, usually observed with formic acid-treated restrictively fermented silages (Derbishire *et al.*, 1976; Huhtanen *et al.*, 2003).

Wilting of forage material is typically included in silage making. Wilting increases the DM concentration in forage and lowers the extent of fermentation during ensiling (McDonald, 1981). The extent of wilting has different effects on DM intake and ruminal degradability. For example, Verbič et al. (1999) observed numerically lower DM intake with highly wilted silage than with unwilted when fed *ad libitum* to sheep. However, sheep have different preference of forage type than cows and therefore wilting has generally results in higher silage DM intake with cows (Huhtanen et al., 2007). Verbič et al. (1999) also observed decreased ruminal degradability, but increased microbial N flow, with silages with increased extent of wilting. Lower in situ ruminal protein degradability of wilted grass silage compared with unwilted silage has been reported (Tamminga et al., 1991). Hristov and Sandev (1998) reported lower in situ degradability of CP for wilted lucerne alfalfa silage compared with unwilted, but no differences in total DM disappearance. The effect of silage DM concentration on N flow was studied by Edmunds et al. (2014), who found significantly increased estimated uCP flow to the duodenum with increased silage DM. Dawson et al. (1999) compared formic acid- or bacterial inoculanttreated wilted and unwilted grass silages from four different cuts and found lower digestibility values for wilted silage in three out of four cuts. The positive production responses associated with wilting are most likely due to the higher DM intake observed on feeding wilted silage (Roffler et al., 1967; Dawson et al., 1999).

### 1.5.2 Hay

Preserving forage as hay is the traditional method. However, in recent decades hay making has been mostly abandoned in countries in Northern Europe, mainly due to the need for dry weather or huge drying facilities during processing, which makes hay making risky compared with silage making. However, it is often reported that the efficiency of microbial protein synthesis is higher in animals fed hay-based diets than in animals fed silage (Chamberlain, 1987; Thomas and Rae, 2013). The ruminal protein degradation in dairy cattle fed hay-based diets was about 5% lower than that in cattle fed silage-based diets (Jaakkola and Huhtanen, 1993). These authors also observed decreased ruminal ammonia N concentration in duodenally cannulated cattle when fed hay compared with silage in the diet and concluded that the main reason is probably that hay has a lower CP concentration than silage. However, they found no differences in NAN flow due to higher microbial protein flow. A greater difference (about 15%) in ruminal CP degradation of grass silage

compared with hay was observed in a study by Verbič et al. (1999) and this led to much higher microbial protein content with hay than with silage, although the direct-cut silage used was reported to be badly fermented in that study. Significant differences in protein fractions in hay and silages affect microbial degradation. Hristov and Sandev (1998) compared the chemical composition of lucerne silages and hay and found that the non-protein nitrogen concentration was approximately 33% lower in hay (206 g/kg N) compared with silage (619 g/kg N). The free AA and ammonia N concentration in that study was 59 and 8 g/kg N, respectively, in hay, compared with 444 and 109 g/kg N, respectively, in silage. Silage fermentation is said to reduce available true protein for rumen microbes, but the consistent reports of lower degradability of hay do not support this claim (Hristov and Sandev, 1998). Most importantly, the experimental evidence discussed by Huhtanen and Broderick (2016) provides no support for greater protein value of grass hay compared with well-fermented grass silage. Feeding experiments conducted with alfalfa have found higher milk protein production in cows fed hay diets than silage diets, but with supplemented diets no differences between hay and silage diets have been observed (Broderick 1995; Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997). However, no silage additives were used in the alfalfa diets in those studies. Overall, the production responses observed have been mainly related to DM intake. The difficulties in ensuring good quality in hay (weather conditions) and high losses in processing (Van Soest, 1994), especially with legumes, have led to decreased usage of hay in recent decades.

#### 1.5.3 Legumes versus grass

Red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) is a good source of feed for dairy production. Being a legume, it can fix atmospheric  $N_2$  and therefore requires less N fertiliser, making it especially beneficial for organic farming systems (Wilkins and Jones, 2000). As mentioned above, DM intake is generally accepted as the main factor behind production responses (Huhtanen *et al.*, 2007). Feeding red clover silage has also been shown to increase milk production compared with grass silage (Steinshamn, 2010).

The unique advantage of red clover compared with other forages is that it contains polyphenol oxidase (PPO), an enzyme that deactivates plant proteases (Jones *et al.*, 1995a; 1995b; Lee, 2014). This reduced activity of proteases prevents protein breakdown during ensiling and can increase true protein content in silages (Broderick *et al.*, 2001; Vanhatalo *et al.*, 2009). This can explain the higher microbial synthesis observed in cows fed red clover silage diets compared with grass silage (Dewhurst *et al.*, 2003a; Vanhatalo *et al.*, 2009). Red clover itself has a higher CP concentration and, together with

reduced proteolysis during ensiling, the protein supply to the animal can be expected to be greater from silage containing red clover than from pure grass silage (Bertilsson and Murphy, 2003; Vanhatalo et al., 2009). This leads to higher N intake despite similar or even lower silage DM intake with red clover silage diets (Heikkilä et al., 1992; Vanhatalo et al., 2009). Vanhatalo et al. (2009) reported higher NAN flow from the rumen to the omasal canal and higher N digestibility in cows fed red clover silage compared with grass silage. However, despite this higher NAN flow milk production was not increased and milk protein composition was in fact decreased with red clover silage. Very similar results have been reported by Dewhurst et al. (2003a). In a review paper, Steinshamn (2010) reported a small increase in milk production, on average from 25.7 to 27.1 kg/day, when cows were fed red clover silage in the diet compared with grass silage. However, lower milk fat content (39.9 and 41.8 g/kg milk, respectively) and a tendency for lower milk protein (30.9 and 31.4 g/kg milk, respectively) was also observed with red clover silage compared with grass silage. This small increase in milk yield comes at the expense of lower N efficiency through increased N excretion in faeces and urine (Bertilsson and Murphy, 2003; Vanhatalo et al., 2009). The lower postruminal utilisation of red clover protein is a problem that is still not well explained. While red clover silage as a sole feed has no effect on milk yield over grass silage, feeding a mixed diet of grass and clover has been found to give similar or higher milk production compared with feeding clover silage alone, without any major reduction in N digestibility and N efficiency (Heikkilä et al., 1992; Vanhatalo et al., 2009; Kuoppala et al., 2009). Various studies have been conducted on grass and clover mixtures and general conclusions seem to suggest that a 50:50 or higher red clover:grass ratio provides the best combination of milk yield and N efficiency (Dewhurst et al., 2003b; Moorby et al., 2009).

#### 1.5.4 Protein supplements

Additional concentrate feeds are required to supply energy and RUP to meet the protein requirements of high-producing dairy cows during lactation. Soybean meal has been widely used as a protein supplement in recent decades due to its high concentration of good quality protein. However, the alternative use of soybean as human food and high production demands, combined with impractically long transportation distances, has led to a search for other sources of locally produced protein. Several types of protein feed can be produced in colder regions of Northern Europe, *e.g.* rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) and various legume feeds (seeds) like field bean (*Vicia faba*), lupin (*Lupinus angustifolius*) and pea (*Pisum sativum*) (May *et al.*, 1993; Tufarelli *et al.*, 2012). Rapeseed

meal (canola meal) has been proven to be good substitute for soybean meal (Shingfield et al., 2003; Gidlund et al., 2015). Furthermore, legume feeds have the benefit of fixing atmospheric N and are therefore especially suitable for organic production systems. Unfortunately, legume grain-based feeds are reported to be less favourable in dairy cow diets due to high protein solubility in the rumen (Mustafa et al., 2003), which leads to lower protein quality for milk production. In a recent study (Puhakka et al., 2016), milk production was found to be lower for cows fed field bean as a protein supplement compared with an isonitrogenous rapeseed meal supplement. Soybean and rapeseed meals are heat-treated to improve the protein value and heat treatment could also be used on legume seeds. Previous research has shown that heat treatment decreases protein degradability and improves protein utilisation by dairy cows (Broderick and Craig, 1980; Goelema et al., 1999). The extent of heating can have different effects on feeds. Overall, feed digestion and/or AA availability can be improved with low levels of heat exposure (Stern et al., 1985; Undi et al., 1996), but the benefits of heat treatment for protein value may be lost with excess heat, which can cause a proportion of the protein to become unavailable to the animal due to the Maillard reaction (Van Soest, 1994).

Despite the advances in forage preservation techniques and the numerous studies conducted to evaluate different forages, there are still major gaps in knowledge on how to achieve the best feed efficiency or protein quality.

# 2 Objectives

The overall objective of this thesis was to develop and improve *in vitro* methods of evaluating forage protein degradation kinetics. The existing methods are either too costly for routine use or related to high prediction errors. *In vitro* methods would be useful for routine usage and can have high capacity. Improving *in vitro* prediction estimates would be valuable for routine screening of feedstuff to evaluate protein efficiency. Specific objectives were:

- To use heat treatment to improve protein quality of domestic produced legume seeds.
- To evaluate protein quality in feeds using utilisable CP approach and evaluate the method itself.
- To compare the effect of preservation methods on protein ruminal degradation kinetics of grass and red clover.
- To develop models to estimate ruminal digestion kinetics of different forage protein fractions *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

## 3 Materials and methods

## 3.1 Paper I

Three Swedish-produced legume protein feeds (field beans, lupines and peas) were heat-treated for 30, 60 and 90 min using two methods and three temperature levels (dry oven at 120, 140 and 160 °C, autoclave at 105, 120 and 135 °C). The effect of heat treatment on protein was evaluated by analysing changes in chemical composition and by estimating uCP at the duodenum according to the method described by Steingaß and Südekum (2013). Each legume feed was mixed with grass silage and barley to create an isonitrogenous diets with a CP concentration of 180 g/kg DM, by replacing barley with legume seeds. Feed portions of 1000 mg were incubated for 48 h in 60 mL buffered rumen fluid collected from two fistulated Swedish Red cows fed grass silage and commercial concentrate (60:40 on DM basis). A modified gas in vitro system (Karlsson et al., 2009) that allows replicate sampling from the same vessel was used to determine the ammonia N concentration in the liquid phase at 8, 24 and 48 h, together with automatic gas production recordings (Cone et al., 1996). The ammonia production from the different diets (degradation product) and blanks (N contribution from rumen fluid for microbial synthesis) was used to calculate uCP at the duodenum at 16 h (uCP<sub>16</sub>), which represents estimated undegraded feed protein and microbial N flowing out of the rumen.

### 3.2 Paper II

The main objective of **Paper II** was to develop dynamic models describing rumen metabolism of ammonia N and SNAN. Soluble NAN isolated from <sup>15</sup>N-labelled timothy grass silage and ammonia N labelled with <sup>15</sup>N were

administered into the rumen contents of four ruminally cannulated Finnish breed cows. Ruminal N pools were determined by manual evacuation of rumen contents. The passage rate of soluble N fractions out of the rumen was determined using LiCoEDTA as a marker (Udén et al., 1980). Grab samples of rumen digesta were collected frequently between 0-72 h after administering the <sup>15</sup>N dose. The <sup>15</sup>N atom% excess was determined in ruminal N fractions of ammonia N, B<sup>1</sup>-fraction, microbial N and protozoal N. The models were developed from the kinetic data to estimate N fluxes using the WinSAAM software (Wastney et al., 1998). A three-compartment kinetic model was developed for <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N treatment to provide an optimal fit between predicted and observed values of <sup>15</sup>N atomic excess pools, including ammonia N, bacterial N and protozoal N. For the SNAN treatment, an additional compartment of SNAN was included. The fluxes between pools were predicted using estimated parameter values in a dynamic mechanistic model developed by Powersim software. Calculations of area under the curve (AUC) ratios of <sup>15</sup>N were used to estimate proportions of N fractions originating from another or preceding N pool (Nolan and Leng, 1974).

### 3.3 Paper III

Timothy grass (Phleum pratense) was grown on two replicate 2 m<sup>2</sup> experimental plots. The grass on one of the plots was labelled with <sup>15</sup>N by fertilising it with <sup>15</sup>N-enriched NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>, while the other plot received nonenriched fertiliser. Harvested grass was chopped and wilted before being preserved as dried grass or as formic acid-treated silage (FAS) or untreated silage (UTS) ensiled in 1-L glass jars. The silages were freeze-dried and separated into three N fractions: soluble N (SN), insoluble N (ISN) and neutral detergent-insoluble N (NDIN). Soluble N was the water-soluble fraction and the NDIN fraction was prepared by boiling water-insoluble residues in neutral detergent solution. The three N fractions were mixed together with additional isolated NDF, soybean meal and/or carbohydrate components to obtain diet mixtures with similar CP and NDF concentration to intact forages. The intact forages were incubated as sole feeds. The intact forages and three N fractions from <sup>15</sup>N-labelled and unlabelled forages were incubated in pre-incubated rumen fluid in vitro (Karlsson et al., 2009). The ammonia N in rumen fluid for unlabelled forage fractions was labelled with  ${}^{15}N$  (as  $({}^{15}NH_4)_2SO_4$ ). Two normal blanks (buffered rumen fluid without feeds) and two blanks with <sup>15</sup>Nlabelled ammonia N were incubated in every run. Frequent samples of incubation medium were collected to determine ammonia N and soluble N

concentration and the excess <sup>15</sup>N atom%. Ammonia concentration was used to estimate uCP according to Steingaß and Südekum (2013). The atom% excess value was used to estimate kinetic parameters of *in vitro* degradation of different forage N fractions, net microbial uptake of ammonia N and utilisable proportion of feed N.

## 3.4 Paper IV

The aim of the **Paper IV** was to estimate the *in vitro* degradation kinetics of the N fractions in red clover (*Trifolium pratense*), using methods identical to those described above for **Paper III**. The only exceptions were that for labelling N in red clover, a fertiliser with five-fold higher <sup>15</sup>N enrichment was used to achieve similar <sup>15</sup>N enrichment (about 2 atom% excess) in red clover N fractions as in timothy grass, and that the *in vitro* buffer solution for incubation contained 2 g/L ammonium carbonate, compared with 1 g/L in **Paper III**. Dynamic models were developed with WinSAAM using measured <sup>15</sup>N enrichment in ammonia N and SN pools.
# 4 Results

## 4.1 Paper I

The heat treatments decreased soluble protein and increased neutral detergentinsoluble CP concentration linearly (P < 0.01) with increasing treatment time and/or temperature in all protein feeds. The inclusion of untreated lupin or pea to the basal diet increased diet uCP<sub>16</sub> concentration only numerically, from 160 to 166 and 172 g/kg DM, respectively, while untreated field bean had no effect. Increased treatment time and temperature increased uCP<sub>16</sub> concentration linearly (P < 0.01) in the field bean and pea diets, but had no linear effect on the lupin diets. The uCP<sub>16</sub> concentration in lupin was increased already with the low and medium treatment levels and increasing the treatment time or temperature further had no significant effect. The autoclave treatment used lower temperatures than the dry oven treatment, but was more effective in increasing uCP<sub>16</sub> in all protein feeds. The combination of longest treatment time and highest temperature in the autoclave (90 min at 135 °C) significantly increased neutral detergent insoluble CP concentration to 183, 245 and 366 g/kg CP in field bean, lupin and pea, respectively. Subtracting acid-detergent insoluble N from uCP<sub>16</sub> reduced the digestible uCP<sub>16</sub> concentration in extensively treated protein feeds.

### 4.2 Paper II

The soluble N fraction in grass silage comprised 93% of NAN and 7% of ammonia N. The mean proportions of bacterial N, protozoal N and feed N in the rumen solid phase were 59, 20 and 21 %, respectively. Models describing the N metabolism of ammonia N and SNAN gave a good fit to the <sup>15</sup>N data. The rapid <sup>15</sup>N enrichment of microbial N with the SNAN treatment was not

possible to model, so initial values were estimated by the model. More than 90% of the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N dose disappeared from the ammonia N compartment within 2 h. Based on the rapid <sup>15</sup>N enrichment of the protozoal pool, it was not possible to describe the protozoal pool only by first-order transfer of <sup>15</sup>N from the bacterial N pool. However, the protozoal N pool was described accurately when a parameter describing physical attachment of bacteria to the protozoal pool was added, in addition to flux representing predation. The model predicted that a significant proportion (7-8%) of bacteria were physically attached to protozoa. Based on AUC ratio, the recovery of <sup>15</sup>N as microbial N was about 20% greater with the SNAN treatment than with ammonia N. Area under the <sup>15</sup>N enrichment curves indicated that most (95%) of the protozoal N was derived from bacterial N, but only about 15% of microbial N flowing to the duodenum was of protozoal origin. Approximately 16% of bacteria were recycled back to ammonia N or to the SNAN pool. An estimated 12.5% of SNAN escaped ruminal degradation. Based on compartmental modelling, the total recovery of <sup>15</sup>N as NAN was 36% greater when <sup>15</sup>N was dosed as SNAN rather than ammonia N (505 compared with 370 mg/g). The results also indicated that the value of silage SNAN was greater than that of ammonia N. partly because it was a better N source for rumen microbes, especially when estimated from AUC ratio, and partly because of escape.

## 4.3 Paper III

All silages were of good quality, but untreated silages had higher pH and ammonia N concentrations than formic acid-treated silages. The <sup>15</sup>N-labelled silages had higher CP and also soluble N concentrations compared with dried grasses. The <sup>15</sup>N atom% in the soluble N fraction was slightly higher and in the NDIN fraction about 3.5% lower than in intact forages. Ammonia N concentration in the soluble N fraction was about 10% and 1.4% for silage and dried grass, respectively. A high proportion (25-38%) of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia disappeared from all feeds and blanks within the first 15 min of incubation, but some of the <sup>15</sup>N reappeared in the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N atom% excess pool (<sup>15</sup>NEP) in the following 15 min. According to model predictions, 20% of the soluble N dose from <sup>15</sup>N-labelled dried grass was immediately taken up by microbes, but only 0.9% of the soluble N from the FAS and UTS silages. Fractional disappearance rate of soluble N from <sup>15</sup>N-labelled FAS, UTS and dried grass during the first 6 hours was 0.145, 0.125 and 0.115 /h. respectively. After the initial disappearance of <sup>15</sup>N from the ammonia N pool, there were no changes in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP size with silage soluble N fractions, but ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP size decreased with dried grass soluble N. The estimated fractional degradation rate of the ISN fraction to ammonia was 0.049, 0.057 and 0.091 /h for <sup>15</sup>N-labelled FAS, UTS and dried grass, respectively, and by the end of the incubation 14, 30 and 24% of <sup>15</sup>N from the respective fraction was found in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP. Only about 12% of <sup>15</sup>N from the <sup>15</sup>N-labelled NDIN fraction was recovered in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP in the end of incubation. The uCP<sub>16</sub> and utilisable substrate CP (uSCP<sub>16</sub>) values were higher for dried grass compared with silages. An estimated 18-37% of uCP<sub>16</sub> was from the contribution of microbial N originating from the rumen fluid and was higher for dried grass than for silage.

# 4.4 Paper IV

All red clover silages were of good quality and representative <sup>15</sup>N-labelled and unlabelled silages had very similar composition and fermentation quality. The <sup>15</sup>N atom% was slightly lower in soluble N fractions and higher in NDIN fractions than in the intact forages. About 2.4-fold less <sup>15</sup>N from <sup>15</sup>N-labelled dried red clover appeared in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP in the first 30 min, compared with silages, but for the rest of the incubation time the appearance rate of <sup>15</sup>N in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP was similar for all forages. The calculated disappearance of the <sup>15</sup>N dose (195 µg) from the ammonia N pool was 38-65% in the first 15 min, after which the <sup>15</sup>NEP size increased again in the following 15 min. The <sup>15</sup>N uptake from ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP was lower with dried red clover compared with silage. The <sup>15</sup>NEP size in blank with <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N decreased in the first nine hours, but slightly increased again during the last 19 hours. The soluble N consisted of 14-27% ammonia N, with the percentage being lower for dried forage than for silage. Over 70%, 65% and 61% of the <sup>15</sup>N from the soluble N fractions of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled FAS. UTS and dried red clover, respectively, disappeared from soluble <sup>15</sup>NEP in the first 15 min. The respective fractional disappearance rate of soluble N fractions, after the initial rapid uptake of soluble N, was 0.273, 0.126 and 0.206 /h, respectively. These fluctuations in <sup>15</sup>NEP size in the first hours of incubation were not possible to model satisfactorily. In the first nine hours of incubation, only 1.6-3% of <sup>15</sup>N from ISN fractions appeared in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP, but by the end of incubation (28 h) about 12% was in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP. There were no significant differences between silage ISN fractions and/or dried red clover ISN. The estimated microbial synthesis rate from ammonia N was 0.279 and 0.329 /h with formic acid and untreated silage ISN fractions, respectively. A maximum of 3% of <sup>15</sup>N from NDIN fractions was recovered in ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP after 28 h of incubation. The <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia <sup>15</sup>NEP size decreased only until 6 h and remained almost unchanged thereafter. Dried red clover had the highest  $uCP_{16}$  concentration and formic acid-treated silages had higher  $uCP_{16}$  than untreated silages. The estimated proportion of  $uCP_{16}$  derived from rumen fluid was 11% for dried red clover and 21% for <sup>15</sup>N-labelled silages.

# 5 Discussion

## 5.1 Evaluation of protein quality in vitro

Alternative systems such as *in vitro* and *in situ* methods are routinely used to estimate ruminal degradation kinetics *in vivo*. The estimates produced with these systems need to reliably represent the conditions prevailing *in vivo* in the rumen. *In vitro* systems try to replicate rumen conditions on a small scale and this allows several feeds to be evaluated simultaneously and many parameters to be measured in controlled conditions. However, the conditions are not identical and there are various factors that affect the accuracy of the predictions, and thus *in vitro* measurements need to be 'translated' to give *in vivo* estimates.

#### 5.1.1 In vitro versus in vivo

The rumen is a continuously changing dynamic system harbouring a complex anaerobic microbial community. The batch system differs from the situation *in vivo* in that the handling of rumen fluid affects microbial activity and being a closed system, the substrate may become limiting. Furthermore, the degradation products cannot escape (except gas) since no absorption (rumen wall) or passage takes place, but also no recycling of urea occurs.

The rumen protozoa are difficult to cultivate *in vitro* (Bonhomme, 1990), but they play an important role in ruminal protein metabolism. The protozoa can contribute to protein breakdown via peptide and AA uptake, but their main effect comes from bacterial predation and intraruminal recycling of N. Previous studies have reported a 35-50% increase in microbial flow from the rumen with defaunation of rumen contents (Walker *et al.*, 2005). However, those studies were mostly conducted at maintenance level feeding in sheep. In **Paper II**, it was estimated that about 95% of rumen protozoa was derived from bacterial predation. This estimate is higher than typically reported in the

literature. One reason could be that in studies using continuous <sup>15</sup>N infusion, <sup>15</sup>N enrichment had not reached steady state due to much slower turnover time of protozoa than bacteria (Hristov *et al.*, 2001; **Paper II**). With reduced activity of protozoa *in vitro* bacterial recycling would be reduced, which would increase degradation rates compared with the case *in vivo*. However, it should be emphasised that reduced ruminal digestibility of OM and NDF is often observed with defaunation (Eugine *et al.*, 2004). The lack of protozoal contribution to peptide degradation and no absorbance of ammonia N through the rumen wall would also change the dynamics of degradation of highly available soluble N *in vitro*. Accumulation and disappearance of peptides in *in vitro* systems with mixed rumen microbes given casein as a protein source (Russell *et al.*, 1983) were slower than those observed *in vivo* (Chen *et al.*, 1987).

Estimating protein degradation rates in vitro using only ammonia production underestimates the degradation rates, because microbes use ammonia N for microbial synthesis. Peptides and AA can also be used directly for microbial synthesis without first being degraded to the external ammonia N pool (Wallace et al., 1999; Carro and Miller, 1999). In Paper II, it was estimated that about 15% of soluble NAN was directly incorporated into microbial N and the proportion of microbial N synthesised from ammonia N was two-fold higher with ammonia than with SNAN treatment. According to Russell et al. (1983), when enough carbohydrates are available then most of the microbial protein is synthesised directly from AA without going through the ammonia N pool. Quantifying in vitro microbial synthesis from ammonia N is further complicated by the change in available energy during the incubation. Using the data from Papers III and IV, an attempt was made to estimate microbial N synthesis from the disappearance of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N and appearance of <sup>15</sup>N in the ammonia N pool from corresponding <sup>15</sup>N-labelled N fractions, but the results overestimated microbial N synthesis. This discrepancy was attributed to different ammonia N uptake rates at different stages of incubation, due to changes in available fermentable organic matter.

High variability of background ammonia concentrations *in vitro* has been reported in other studies (Broderick *et al.*, 2004; Karlsson *et al.*, 2009) and has also been observed in our laboratory (unpublished). Previous authors have used pre-incubation of rumen fluid to reduce the background ammonia N variability. Pre-incubating rumen fluid was used in **Papers III** and **IV** with promising results, as no unexplained ammonia concentration peaks were detected and blanks used within every run had nearly identical ammonia production curves. However, the pre-incubation step leaves microbes deprived of ammonia N, which can result in immediate uptake of ammonia, thereby influencing the

estimates of rate of microbial synthesis. On average, 44% of the initial dose of <sup>15</sup>N given in incubation vessels as (<sup>15</sup>NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> disappeared from the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N pool during the first 15 min (**Papers III** and **IV**). In **Paper II**, the disappearance of the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N dose given in the rumen was about 14% in the first 13 min. However in **Paper II**, the recovery of the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N dose given in the rumen was only about 75%. Blake *et al.* (1983) observed high microbial N enrichment already after 2 min when steers were given <sup>15</sup>N-labelled <sup>15</sup>NH<sub>4</sub>Cl in the rumen. The enrichment of AA was much slower, indicating that uptake of ammonia N is not equal to microbial N synthesis (in the short term). Moreover, the rate and extent of microbial <sup>15</sup>N enrichment were lower when ammonia <sup>15</sup>N was given together with urea rather than with decorticated groundnut meal. The differences in initial ammonia N uptake by microbes between *in vitro* and the rumen could then be explained by the pre-incubation and also the availability of other N substrates in the rumen.

The optimal ammonia N concentration to support maximal microbial growth is reported to be at least 50 mg/L in vitro (Satter and Slyter, 1974) or 85 mg/L under in vivo conditions (Kang-Meznarich and Broderick, 1980). However, using too high an ammonia N concentration in the buffer solution to support microbial activity (McDougall, 1948) leads to problems of variability, as discussed above. Moreover, according to the data used in a meta-analysis of omasal sampling studies (Broderick et al., 2010), the ruminal ammonia N concentration has no significant (P = 0.22) effect on the efficiency of microbial protein synthesis when used as a second variable in addition to DM intake. The buffer solution used in every in vitro study in this thesis had an ammonia N concentration of at least 40-80 mg/L, well within the suggested range (Papers I, III and IV). The *in vitro* ammonia production data reported in Papers III and IV ranked the forages and forage protein fractions as would be expected based on general knowledge of the chemical composition of silage and hay, but degradation rates of soluble N fractions in of grass and red clover were slower than observed in vivo (Paper II). However, the degradation rates of the SN fraction in red clover silage were similar to those reported for the soluble fraction of lucerne by Peltekova and Broderick (1996). This could reflect the limitation of batch systems regarding changes in the microbial community, reduced protozoa activity and substrate imbalance. In the *in vitro* experiments carried out in our laboratory, 4 g/L (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> is typically used for preparing the buffer solution (Menke and Steingaß, 1988). Moreover, additional peptone is sometimes added to stimulate microbial growth in the early stage of incubation when forages with low CP concentration are used (Hetta et al., 2008). To avoid the above-mentioned problems with variable ammonia N, a reduced amount of ammonium carbonate was used in Papers III and IV, but this could have reduced microbial activity and be a significant cause of the lower degradation of proteins to ammonia observed in those studies. This speculation is supported by the lag phase (about 30-60 min) observed in gas production data. However, the lag phase could also be because the pre-incubated rumen fluid had almost no fermentable substrate left (based on zero grass production from blanks) and therefore it takes time before sufficient feed substrate is digested to show up in gas recordings. Overall, the gas production kinetics could be considered normal, or perhaps slightly lower than normal (Ramin and Huhtanen, 2012). There is currently no good solution to hand and more practical testing is needed to modify the method in this regard.

#### 5.1.2 In vitro versus in situ

Degradation estimates made *in situ* are the basis of many feed evaluation systems. In theory, the *in situ* approach is the simplest available method for routine screening of feedstuffs. The placement of feeds in the rumen within nylon bags should expose feeds to the natural environment of the rumen. However, the *in situ* method has several disadvantages, prompting a search for more reliable methods. Escaping feed particles, reduced microbial activity in the bags and microbial contamination of degradation residues are the main methodological problems associated with the *in situ* method (Hvelplund and Weisbjerg, 2000). These problems explain why the reproducibility of the *in situ* method was found to be very poor in a ring test involving 23 laboratories in 17 countries (Madsen and Hvelplund, 1994).

The first major disadvantage of the *in situ* method is the escape of soluble materials and feed particles from the bag without being fully degraded (Hvelplund and Weisbjerg, 2000). This is especially important for estimating degradation of soluble proteins. According to the equation developed by Ørskov and McDonald (1979) to estimate EPD, the soluble protein fraction is considered to be degraded at an infinite rate. In older feed evaluation systems such as CNCPS (Sniffen et al., 1992) and NRC (2001), the degradation rates used for soluble CP were so high that it could be concluded that all soluble protein is degraded in the rumen. In vivo studies using ruminal evacuation or omasal sampling techniques have demonstrated that significant proportions of soluble NAN escape ruminal degradation (Hristov and Broderick, 1996; Choi et al., 2002). In Paper II, it was estimated that 12.5% of soluble NAN escaped ruminal degradation. Considering the high proportion of soluble fractions in silages and many protein feeds, accurate estimation of the degradability of soluble proteins is important. The average in vitro degradation rates found here for the soluble N fractions of grass forage (0.12 /h; Paper II) and red clover

(0.24 /h; **Paper III**) were slower than those reported by many others. For example, Peltekova and Broderick (1996), using an *in vitro* technique, estimated degradation rates of 0.48 /h for casein and 0.27 and 0.29 /h for soluble proteins of lucerne hay and silage. Hedqvist and Uden (2006) reported *in vitro* degradation rates of 0.18-0.62 /h for soluble proteins in 11 feedstuffs (four forages). However, all those reported *in vitro* degradation rates are lower than those observed *in vivo* (Nugent and Mangan, 1981; **Paper II**) and would lead to the assumption that more than 50% of the soluble fractions in forage could escape ruminal degradation. The degradation rates of soluble NAN in grass silage in **Paper II** were several-fold greater (1.22 /h) than those observed *in vitro* by Peltekova and Broderick (1996) and Hedqvist and Uden (2006). Hedqvist and Uden (2006) also observed that only 33% and 26% of the soluble proteins in rapeseed cake and pea, respectively, were recovered 30 min after dosing to the rumen, while after 1 h the concentrations had reverted back to the baseline.

The escape of soluble fractions from the bag is not the only problem with the *in situ* method. Vanhatalo *et al.* (1996) reported that about 17-35% of acid detergent insoluble N (ADIN) in grass residues incubated for 96 h in the rumen disappeared from mobile bags within the intestine. In **Paper I**, the extensive heat treatments significantly increased the ADIN concentration of legume seeds. Since ADIN is considered to be indigestible, the partial escape of ADIN from *in situ* bags would overestimate the degradability and digestibility of proteins.

Various in vitro systems have been successfully used to predict methane production and feed degradation with reasonable accuracy from gas production kinetics (Getachew et al., 1994; Huhtanen et al., 2008; Ramin and Huhtanen, 2012). Estimating protein degradation in vitro poses more difficulties, because the degradation end-products (ammonia N and AA) are used for microbial synthesis, resulting in underestimation of the rate and extent of degradation (Broderick, 1994). To overcome this problem, Broderick (1987) used hydrazine sulphate and chloramphenicol to inhibit microbial synthesis during degradation. In a comparison of the inhibitory effect in vitro and in situ, Broderick et al. (1988) found that the degradation rates of seven protein feedstuffs were on average 36% slower in situ. The reason for slower rates in situ is that soluble N is not taken into account, but in vitro the faster degradation of soluble N increases overall degradation values. Another reason could be that the physical barrier of the nylon bag reduces microbial access to feed particles (Meyer and Mackie, 1986). Ramin et al. (2013) reported lower methane production when feeds were incubated inside filter bags in vitro, indicating reduced microbial degradation.

Our main objective in Papers III and IV was to use ammonia N as the main indicator to estimate degradation parameters. This proved to be more difficult than expected. The ability to quantify ammonia N and soluble N in the incubation medium made it partially possible to estimate the degradation kinetics of the soluble N fraction. Estimating microbial N synthesis and degradation of intact feeds and insoluble N fractions was less successful. The idea was to use replicate <sup>15</sup>N-labelled and unlabelled feeds and measure the <sup>15</sup>N appearance from feed to ammonia and correct for microbial synthesis by measuring <sup>15</sup>N disappearance from the labelled ammonia N pool. However, since microbes use some feed N directly without degrading it to the external ammonia pool and because of microbial recycling, it was impossible to estimate the actual protein degradation rate and extent with this method alone. Using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled plant N fractions and modifying the inhibitory in vitro method (Broderick, 1987) could be one possibility to improve this technique, at least for soluble fractions. The accumulation of ammonia and AA limits the incubation time of the inhibitory *in vitro* system to about 6 hours, which may be too short a time for more slowly degradable proteins. Considering the results presented in this thesis, the *in situ* technique would be a more accurate method for evaluating ruminal degradation of insoluble N fractions. However, the microbial contamination of degradation residues in situ can still cause underestimation of degradation, especially with the insoluble N fraction with low CP concentrations (Hvelplund and Weisbjerg, 2000). Protein degradation of feeds with low CP and high NDF concentration can lead to up to 30% underestimation due to microbial contamination (Michalet-Doreau and Ould-Bah, 1992).

One criticism of the present work could be that the N fractions were incubated within mixed diets including other carbohydrate and protein substrates (**Papers III** and **IV**). With <sup>15</sup>N-labelled forages using mixed diets should not cause any problems, because the excess <sup>15</sup>N can only originate from the labelled feeds. However, incubating N fractions *in vitro* as mixed diets makes it difficult to assess the microbial N synthesis from ammonia N, because the mixed diet contents and available carbohydrates would affect the microbial uptake of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N (Russell *et al.*, 1983). On the other hand, incubating N fractions as single substrates would lead to inaccurate estimates because microbial synthesis would be influenced by limited energy or protein, especially with single fractions.

#### 5.1.3 Utilisable CP approach

With many errors associated with determining microbial N and RUP separately, it may be useful to instead estimate total NAN flow to the duodenum as a whole (Lebzien and Voigt, 1999). Existing in vitro methods make it possible to obtain frequent liquid samples during incubation and determine ammonia N production (Karlsson et al., 2009). Ammonia measurements alone do not allow microbial synthesis or degradation to be determined separately. Determining uCP from ammonia N production in vitro, as described by Steingaß and Südekum (2013), is a promising method, at least for ranking the feeds. Edmund et al. (2012) pointed out that forages and protein feeds require different in vitro incubation times to be estimated accurately, because of the variability in ammonia N concentrations. As discussed before, some of the variability can be removed by normalising rumen fluid with preincubation. The other thing to consider would be that feed composition influences microbial activity. Possible interactions between diet components can influence the total diet digestion and N utilisation in a diet (Huhtanen et al., 1991; Moss et al., 1992). In Paper I, heat-treated protein feeds were incubated together with silage and barley mixed as complete diets. Incubating feedstuffs as a sole feed in vitro is common practice, but does not represent rumen conditions accurately, especially with feeds high in CP, as the imbalance of energy or protein supply for microbial synthesis can reduce microbial growth (Russell et al., 1983). Considering that dairy cows are normally fed mixed diets of forages and concentrates, it would be logical to evaluate the effect of individual feeds on uCP by incubating them as mixed diets. Forages can be incubated as single feeds. Heat treatment of feedstuffs increases the insoluble N fraction  $(B_2)$  and decreases runnial degradability (NRC, 2001). Decreased ruminal degradation by drying forages or heattreating feeds with a high proportion of SN, such as legume seeds, should increase NAN flow from the rumen (Van Soest, 1994; NRC, 2001). The estimated uCP<sub>16</sub> concentration of legume seeds was significantly increased by the heat treatments tested in Paper I. However, only marginal increases in uCP were observed for untreated legume seeds, as also found in the *in vivo* study by Vanhatalo et al. (2004). In their study, pea supplementation did not increase omasal NAN flow compared with a grass silage-barley diet. In Papers III and IV, the estimated  $uCP_{16}$  was significantly higher for timothy and red clover hav than for the respective silages. The value of uCP estimated in vitro still needs to be evaluated in vivo, but preliminary results obtained by Gidlund et al. (2017, unpublished) show a good relationship between uCP<sub>16</sub> and omasal NAN flow measured in vivo.

## 5.2 Using <sup>15</sup>N in rumen studies

#### 5.2.1 Microbial marker

Microbes use different N sources for microbial cell synthesis. Stable isotope <sup>15</sup>N is routinely used in ruminant nutrition studies to label the microbial population in the rumen (Broderick and Merchen, 1992). In vivo experiments often use <sup>15</sup>N to reach stable enrichment of microbial protein to measure microbial N flow from the rumen (Mathison and Milligan, 1971; NRC, 1985). Typically, a certain period before the sampling time, a continuous flow of <sup>15</sup>N solution is infused into the rumen through a rumen fistula to establish stable <sup>15</sup>N enrichment. However, it should be considered that protozoal N enrichment takes a longer time to reach stable conditions, which could lead to underestimation of microbial N flow. In Paper II, the <sup>15</sup>N enrichment of protozoal N was much slower than that of bacterial N, presumably because protozoal N is derived mainly from bacterial predation (Walker et al., 2005). Protozoa flow is rarely determined separately, but if protozoa enrichment is lower than bacteria enrichment, this would underestimate the total microbial N flow (Broderick et al., 2010). For instance, if the protozoal contribution to microbial N flow is 20% and protozoa enrichment is 50% of that of bacteria, then microbial N flow would be underestimated by about 10%. An advantage of <sup>15</sup>N as a microbial marker compared with others is that it is relatively easy to separate microbial N from feed N, because <sup>15</sup>N in NAN represents only microbial N (Reynal et al., 2005). A bolus injection of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled substrate can be used to measure microbial synthesis from that particular substrate, by determining <sup>15</sup>N changes in different N pools (Hristov et al., 2001). In Paper II, a single dose of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled N fractions was injected into the rumen and the enrichment curves of microbial N and other N pools were used to estimate fluxes between pools. Since <sup>15</sup>N isotope is stable and naturally occurring, it does not influence microbial synthesis. Although small differences in <sup>15</sup>N enrichment in different N fractions in the rumen and whole animal have been reported (Steel and Daniel, 1978; Cheng et al., 2012), but these differences are small and can be corrected using background measurement. A mass spectrometer equipped with an isotope analyser used for <sup>15</sup>N measurement has very high sensitivity (Tunlid et al., 1985), making it possible to use very low amounts of excess <sup>15</sup>N in experiments to label microbial or any other protein fraction. In Paper II, it was noted that the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N pool increased and decreased slightly at regular intervals related to the feeding time of the cows. These changes were small but still detectable. The conclusion drawn was that these changes were caused by slightly higher <sup>15</sup>N enrichment of grass silage over the stable atmospheric <sup>15</sup>N concentration (Huss-Danell et al., 2007; Cheng

*et al.*, 2011). In future, we would recommend determining  $\delta^{15}N$  values for all feedstuffs, or at least the full diet fed to cows, in experiments where <sup>15</sup>N is used as a marker. The microbial contamination of *in situ* residues can be estimated using <sup>15</sup>N to label microbes and estimate their contribution to remaining feed in the nylon bags (Varvikko and Lindberg, 1985)

### 5.2.2 Ammonia and urea <sup>15</sup>N kinetics

Microbial synthesis from ammonia N can be estimated by labelling ammonia N with <sup>15</sup>N. This method is robust and relatively easy to conduct. Peltekova and Broderick (1994) estimated microbial synthesis and degradation of N fractions of lucerne hay and silage in vitro by labelling the ammonia N pool with <sup>15</sup>N and determining the enrichment changes during the incubation for ammonia <sup>15</sup>N pool, isolated bacterial <sup>15</sup>N pool and total solids NA<sup>15</sup>N pool. A similar method to estimate ruminal degradation of rapeseed meal in vitro was developed by Ahvenjärvi et al. (2009). Their method is promising, but the need to have many replicate samples to determine <sup>15</sup>N enrichment in total residues makes it very laborious. In **Paper II** the <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia used to quantify microbial synthesis in vivo gave meaningful results and high repeatability. In Papers III and IV it was partly possible to estimate microbial synthesis from ammonia N with <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N. With <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N the recycling of microbial N was estimated to occur, which should be taken into account in the future when estimating protein degradation based only on ammonia N measurements, even if the difference can be small (Nolan and Leng, 1972). Urea recycling can play a major role in rumen in vivo estimates (Nolan and Leng, 1974). If <sup>15</sup>N is used as a marker in vivo, the recycling of urea back to the rumen could interfere with rumen degradation estimates. Using double-labelled  $({}^{15}N{}^{15}N)$  urea and considering that the fractionation of urea by microbes (Cheng *et al.*, 2012) would lead to production of  ${}^{14}N{}^{15}N$ , the change in this ratio ( $[^{14}N^{15}N]$ : $[^{15}N^{15}N]$ ) can be used to determine the extent of urea recycling to the rumen (Lapierre and Lobley, 2001; Marini and Van Amburgh, 2003).

### 5.2.3 Using <sup>15</sup>N labelling of plant N fractions

In **Papers II-IV**, intrinsically <sup>15</sup>N-labelled forage N fractions were used to study rumen metabolism of plant N fractions. This method had proven useful in a previous study by Hristov *et al.* (2001), who used <sup>15</sup>N-labelled lucerne silage and hay in *in vivo* studies. The advantage of labelling feedstuffs with <sup>15</sup>N is that it represents feed N only, therefore allowing fluxes between different N

pools to be accurately estimated. Using area under the <sup>15</sup>N enrichment curve following single injection of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled substrate (Nolan and Leng, 1974) enables fractionation of plant N to other pools, such as bacterial N, protozoal N and ammonia N, to be estimated. Paper II showed a consistent enrichment pattern with both <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N and SNAN and the models developed accurately fitted the enrichment data of individual cows. The bacterial N recycling to ammonia N in **Paper II** was rather similar (Nolan and Leng, 1974) or slightly lower than reported in other studies (Koenig et al., 2000; Oldick et al., 2000). The lower recycling was most likely due to the higher feeding level in Paper II, which increased ruminal passage rate and reduced microbial retention time and thus increased microbial cell yield per unit energy fermented (Russell et al., 1992). An important observation in **Paper II** was that silage-based diets can have positive  $\delta^{15}N$  values (Cheng *et* al., 2011; Huss-Danell et al., 2007) and even though the external inputs of <sup>15</sup>N are small, their contribution can have quite an important effect on estimates of recycling. Comparison of the results obtained with <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ammonia N and SNAN in **Paper II** showed that SNAN was a more optimal N source for rumen microbes than ammonia N. Although ammonia N can provide all microbial requirements, peptides and AA have beneficial effects on rumen fermentation (Walker et al., 2005). In the CPNCP model, microbial growth efficiency of non-cellulolytic bacteria is reported to improve by up to 18.7% with preformed AA (Russell et al., 1992).

As far as we know, there are no reports of using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled forages or plant N fractions in previous *in vitro* studies. All <sup>15</sup>N recovered in the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N pool represents feed <sup>15</sup>N degradation to ammonia N. However, as mentioned above, this method can currently only determine soluble N degradation because the soluble N can be quantified in the incubation medium. Insoluble feed N fractions would require <sup>15</sup>N determination of the whole digesta and separation of microbial and feed N fractions. However, the appearance of <sup>15</sup>N measured in the ammonia <sup>15</sup>N pool when forage NDIN fractions were incubated in **Papers III** and **IV** could indicate direct microbial utilisation, rather than degradation of NDIN to extracellular ammonia N. Similarly, in *in vivo* studies with <sup>15</sup>N-labelled silage ISN and NDIN fractions, no <sup>15</sup>N appeared in the fluid phase (**Paper II** unpublished data)

The disadvantages of using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled feedstuffs for research are that it takes a long time to grow the plants and the high cost of <sup>15</sup>N chemicals makes it expensive to produce labelled plant material for *in vivo* studies. However, considering the high sensitivity and precision of <sup>15</sup>N analysis, only low levels of enrichment are needed for *in vitro* experiments.

# 5.3 Improving forage protein value

Since forages normally form the main proportion of cattle diets, many strategies have been used to improve forage protein value. It is important to optimise growing and harvesting methods to achieve the highest possible quality and yield. Forage quality alters during the stages of plant development and during the growing season. The effect of preceding development of the plants is well known to have an effect on animal production (Steen, 1992). Early cut forages have higher digestibility (McDonald, 1981), but higher solubility can lead to higher losses during ensiling and to reduced N efficiency compared with late cut forages (NRC, 2001). The negative changes in forages during later growth are an increase in structural carbohydrates and a decrease in CP and soluble components (McDonald, 1981). The forage protein concentration and fractionation can be affected by the rate of N fertilisation (Fox and Brown, 1969; Peyraud and Astigarraga, 1998). The increased CP concentration and production yield with fertilisation can be accompanied by increased non-protein N concentration (Van Soest, 1994) and decreased protein efficiency (Shingfield et al., 2001). In a review, Peyraud and Astigarraga (1998) also reported slightly higher OM digestibility with high compared with low N fertilisation. However, the higher CP in grasses due to higher N fertilisation promotes no significant increase in NAN flow (g/kg DM intake) to the duodenum (Vanhatalo and Toivonen, 1993).

## 5.3.1 Formic acid and formaldehyde treatment

Fermentation inhibitors are widely used to improve silage quality (McDonald, 1981). Formic acid-based silage additives are possibly the most commonly used in practice. These additives usually contain a mixture of formic acid as a fermentation inhibitor and propionic acid to improve aerobic stability (Driehuis et al., 1995). The function of fermentation inhibitors is to accelerate the decrease in pH of ensiled forage matter. Since fermentation products such as VFAs provide little or no energy to microbes, extensively or poorly fermented silages reduce microbial protein synthesis (Harrison et al., 2003). In a metaanalysis, Huhtanen et al. (2003) found a negative relationship between the extent of fermentation and milk yield and milk fat and protein concentrations. In Papers III and IV, formic acid application reduced silage pH and ammonia N concentration. The in vitro incubations showed higher degradation of soluble N to ammonia with untreated compared with formic acid-treated silages. With grass silages, the uptake of ammonia N for microbial synthesis was increased with N fractions of formic acid-treated silages compared with untreated silages, but this effect was not observed in red clover silages (**Paper IV**). The formic

acid treatment also had a smaller effect on the ammonia concentrations of red clover silages compared with grass silages. This could be because of lower soluble protein concentration in the red clover (NRC, 2001) and the naturally reduced fermentation of red clover due to the polyphenol oxidase (PPO) content (Jones et al., 1995a; 1995b). Despite small differences observed in in vitro degradation of the insoluble N fractions in red clover, the estimated uCP concentration was significantly higher for formic acid-treated silages compared with untreated silages. These differences are most likely attributable to differences in soluble N composition. Higher losses of soluble N to ammonia instead of microbial synthesis would reduce the estimated NAN flow to the duodenum. This agrees with the higher production responses observed with restricted fermentation silages (Huhtanen et al., 2003). With grass silages (Paper III) the uCP concentration was numerically higher in untreated silages, but the uSCP was not significantly different. The higher observed uCP could be because of proportionally higher microbial synthesis from ammonia N with insoluble N fractions of untreated compared with formic acid-treated silages. Considering that the fermentation quality of the experimental silages was relatively good, then the small differences between untreated and formic acidtreated silages are not unexpected. It has been concluded that increased production responses are mostly due to higher DM intake with formic acidtreated silages compared with untreated (Huhtanen et al., 2003).

In the past, formaldehyde has been used as a silage additive to reduce proteolysis in the silo and increase the supply of RUP. In studies conducted in the 1970s with sheep, marked increases in duodenal NAN were reported, but this was not reflected in improved performance in production studies, probably because the digestibility of CP and also OM were decreased (Huhtanen and Broderick, 2016).

### 5.3.2 Hay versus silage

Compared with fresh grass, during the silage fermentation process a high proportion of true proteins in forage are degraded to more soluble fractions of ammonia N, free AA and peptides (McDonald, 1981; Van Soest, 1994). Some proteolysis also occurs during wilting and drying and therefore hay typically has a higher non-protein nitrogen concentration than fresh forages (NRC, 2001). Since grass was dried in forced air oven at 50°C in this thesis, proteolysis probably occurred to a lower extent than it would be in field-dried hay (**Paper III**). In **Paper III** the degradation of soluble protein in dried grass was proportionally similar that of soluble protein in formic acid-treated silages in the first 6 hours. However, significantly more ammonia N was used for

microbial synthesis with dried grass. With red clover (Paper IV), the degradation of soluble protein and microbial synthesis from ammonia was similar to that in grasses. Since fermentation products provide little or no ATP to rumen microbes (Chamberlain, 1987), it can be concluded that hay promotes higher microbial protein synthesis compared with silages, as long as degradability does not become limiting (Huhtanen and Broderick, 2016). The significantly higher uCP concentrations found for dried grass and red clover compared with silages in Papers III and IV are consistent with previous findings that ruminal in situ determinations consistently show lower degradability of hay compared with silages made from the same sward. For example, around 5-21 %-units lower ruminal degradation has been reported for hay compared with silage (Jaakkola and Huhtanen, 1993; Verbič et al., 1999; Grabber and Goblentz, 2009). The greater proportion of microbial synthesis from ammonia with dried grass and red clover than with silages also agrees with previous reports of lower ruminal degradation and increased microbial efficiency with hay compared with silages. However, production results do not support these findings, as higher milk production is normally observed with silage-based diets compared with hay (Figure 5). In almost all of the experiments used for Figure 5, the forages were supplemented by concentrate feeds. Considering that energy might be the limiting factor for silages, these higher production responses can be due to an effect of supplementation. As Professor emeritus G. A. Broderick puts it: "It's the energy that drives the bus!"

As discussed above, the appearance of <sup>15</sup>N from labelled NDIN fractions was at least partly due to microbial lysis (**Papers III** and **IV**). A numerically greater proportion of <sup>15</sup>N from NDIN was recovered from the ammonia N pool in dried grass and red clover compared with the corresponding silages, indicating either higher degradation of dried grass NDIN fraction and/or higher microbial N synthesis from direct incorporation of dried grass NDIN, which would appear in ammonia after microbial lysis (**Papers III** and **IV**). It is possible that part of the NDF-bound N is hydrolysed during silage fermentation, reducing the available NDIN content for rumen microbes (Jones *et al.*, 1992; Rinne *et al.*, 1997). Significantly lower B<sub>3</sub> fraction (fibre-bound N) has been reported for grass silages compared with the corresponding grass before ensiling (Rinne *et al.*, 1997)



*Figure 5.* Comparison of milk production with hay and silage based diets. The markers above the middle line (y = x) represent higher production with silage and markers below represent higher production with hay. (Source: Bertilsson, 1983; Broderick *et al.*, 1985; Nelson and Satter, 1992; Heikkilä *et al.*, 1991(ref. Huhtanen, 1993); Coulon *et al.*, 1997; Murphy *et al.*, 1999; Shingfield *et al.*, 2002, 2005; Martineau *et al.*, 2007; Villeneuve *et al.*, 2013)

#### 5.3.3 Red clover versus grass

The main benefits of red clover over grasses are the higher CP concentration and the reduced need for N fertiliser. The PPO in red clover should also reduce the fermentation losses during ensiling (Jones *et al.*, 1995b). However, poor silage fermentation quality is often reported with red clover (Taylor and Quesenberry, 2013) which is usually attributed to low DM content and high buffering capacity of red clover and legumes (McDonald, 1981). Therefore, improved silage quality can be obtained with formic acid treatment. However, the effect on the protein fraction is likely to be lower than with grasses. In **Paper IV**, significant differences in *in vitro* degradation profiles were only found for red clover-soluble proteins, while with grasses significant changes were observed also in other fractions (**Paper III**).

The higher CP concentration of red clover and greater NAN flow observed in dairy cows fed red clover silages compared with grass silages does not result in a proportional increase in milk production in those studies (Dewhurst *et al.*, 2003a; Vanhatalo *et al.*, 2009). However, the degradation rates measured by the *in situ* method can be misleading. With red clover based diets, much more feed N was flowing in the small (<38  $\mu$ m) feed particles than is the case with grass (Huhtanen *et al.*, 2014) indicating that the *in situ* approach does not predict lower ruminal degradability of red clover. This indicates in turn that the utilisation of absorbed AA is lower with red clover than with grass-based diets (Huhtanen and Broderick, 2016). In general, higher milk production is observed when cows are fed red clover silages compared with grass silages (Figure 6A). However, these differences in milk production are related to higher DM intake (Figure 6B), indicating that the beneficial effects of red clover mainly derive from increased ME supply. In a review, Dewhurst (2013) pointed out that despite often lower digestibility of legume silages, the higher DM intake of red clover diets results in higher milk production compared with grass silages. Comparison of the uCP<sub>16</sub> concentrations obtained in Papers III and IV revealed no significant differences between formic acid-treated and untreated silages or between dried red clover and timothy. However, based on the uSCP<sub>16</sub> concentrations, a greater proportion of CP in red clover silages compared with grass silages was degraded to ammonia N and also more ammonia N was used for microbial synthesis. These results agree with the higher NAN flow observed occasionally when feeding red clover compared with grass silages (Dewhurst et al., 2003a; Vanhatalo et al., 2009). The higher degradation rates of soluble proteins in red clover to ammonia and greater direct microbial synthesis compared with grass silages also support higher NAN flows reported with red clover.



*Figure 6.* Comparison of milk production with grass silage and red clover based diets (**A**). The markers above the middle line (y = x) represent higher production with silage and markers below represent higher production with hay. Relationship between differences in milk production and DM intake with grass and red clover silages (**B**). (Source: Thomas *et al.*, 1985; Heikkilä *et al.*, 1992; Tuori *et al.*, 2002; Bertilsson and Murphy, 2003; Dewhurst *et al.*, 2003a; 2003b; Moorby *et al.*, 2009; Vanhatalo *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Halmemies-Beauchet-Fileau *et al.*, 2014)

## 5.4 Altering legume seed protein value by heating

Application of heat is used in many forms in animal feed processing, such as roasting, expeller processing, extrusion, drying and many more (Wallace and Chesson, 2008). Heat treatment can have an effect on feed hygiene (killing of pathogens) or change the nutritional value through the Maillard reaction, inactivation of toxins and protein inhibition (Van Soest, 1994; FAO, 2004). The Maillard reaction can be preferred to a certain extent, because it reduces ruminal degradation of feed proteins (NRC, 2001). In Paper I, the heat treatment of legume seeds significantly decreased the SN concentration in legume seeds and increased the insoluble protein fraction. This would decrease protein degradation in the rumen and could improve feed protein value (NRC, 2001), assuming that processed grains and protein feeds have higher intestinal digestibility (Owens et al., 1979). The inclusion of field beans or peas in a basal diet of grass silage and barley had only a small effect on uCP concentrations (Paper I). This indicates high ruminal degradability of untreated legume seeds and explains the low production responses of legume seeds (Robinson and McNiven, 1993; Singh et al., 1995; Ramin et al., 2015). The estimated uCP concentrations in diets of legume seeds in Paper I increased with increased extent of heat treatment, suggesting improved protein value. These results are in agreement with earlier findings (Aguilera et al., 1992; Nowak et al., 2005; Spörndly, 2013). Mild heat treatment was even observed to increase OM digestibility in Paper I, while moderate heat treatment can increase the amount of AA absorbed (Stern et al., 1985). However, the positive effects of heat application are not unlimited. For example, some heat-sensitive AAs (mainly lysine and methionine) are easily damaged by relatively low temperatures (Moshtaghi Nia and Ingalls, 1995; Dakowski et al., 1996) and decreased ruminal protein degradability can possibly limit the efficiency of microbial protein synthesis, which would reduce the total benefits of higher NAN flow (Santos et al., 1998; Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2005). Considering the poor AA composition of legume seeds, e.g. they are low in methionine (NRC, 2001), heat treatment could reduce the value even more. On the other hand, peas for instance have a high energy value due to high starch content and therefore could be fed in combination with rapeseed meal (high in methionine) to achieve a favourable AA balance.

Moreover, extensive heating could cause proteins become completely indigestible (Webster, 1987; Van Soest, 1994). This was observed in **Paper I**,

where acid detergent-insoluble CP concentrations in legume seeds significantly increased when the seeds were exposed to high temperatures. Therefore the improved uCP concentrations in diets due to heat treatment became biologically less valuable. It should be emphasised that determining NDIN concentration is important when heat treatment is used in feed processing.

Heat treatment is a simple and effective way to improve feed protein value, but care has to be taken when choosing the procedures for specific feeds. The protein composition is different in feeds and therefore the responses to heating are also different (Aguilera *et al.*, 1992). Moreover, it was observed in this thesis (**Paper I**) that the optimal results (increase in uCP without increasing indigestible proteins too much) were obtained at different temperatures with different feeds.

# 6 Conclusions

The studies reported in this thesis demonstrate the potential for using <sup>15</sup>Nlabelled forage in ruminal N metabolism studies, especially *in vivo* studies. Producing <sup>15</sup>N-labelled plants may be expensive, but the high detection limits and accuracy mean that only small amounts of labelled material are needed for the experiments. Current in vitro systems might not yet be sufficiently well equipped to exploit the full potential of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled feed fractions, but the method could be already suitable (with some modifications and evaluations) for use for soluble N fractions. Use of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled N fractions in *in vivo* studies in this thesis proved to be an accurate method for examining ruminal metabolism. It was also capable of detecting even small changes in the system and identifying external influences (e.g. external influence of feeding during experiment). It was concluded both in situ and in vitro that the soluble N fraction in forage stimulates microbial N synthesis and is a more valuable source of N for microbes than ammonia N. Soluble NAN increased microbial N synthesis and a significant proportion escaped the rumen undegraded. This escaped SNAN should be considered a valuable AA source, since it should be all digested post-ruminally. Intraruminal N recycling due to protozoal predation on bacteria is probably less important in dairy cows with high levels of feed intake. The potential benefits of reduced bacterial turnover are balanced out by reduced OM and NDF digestibility. The increased CP in forage or feed seems to have rather limited value unless related to improved digestibility. The production value of forages is mainly related to intake potential and digestibility, which are strongly correlated. Therefore ensuring silage digestibility and fermentation quality should be the main priority in dairy production and care should be taken when processing animal feeds so as not to reduce the digestibility. Drying, formaldehyde treatment or inclusion of red clover provide little evidence that reduced protein degradability has the same protein value as high quality protein supplements, and even with increased NAN flow from the rumen the production responses are not what could be expected from increased protein supply to the small intestine. Moreover, the current protein evaluation methods do not predict production responses well. The only consistent trait of the *in situ* method is its poor repeatability, but *in vitro* methods fail to provide results that could be accurately related to *in vivo* conditions. The predicted degradation rates of forage N fractions *in vitro* were significantly and inconsistently lower than those estimated *in vivo*. Expensive or not, at present *in vivo* methods remain the only accurate way for estimating ruminal N metabolism. However, the *in vitro* methods hold potential to be improved in the future.

# 7 Future perspectives

The impact of human activity on the environment will continue to increase and the efficiency of food production will need to be improved. Evaluation of existing methods and development of new methodology for evaluation of nutritional efficiency in dairy production are still necessary. The method used in this thesis for estimating uCP *in vitro* indicated good potential, but needs to be validated *in vivo*. Production experiments will always be required for validation of other techniques, and therefore one recommendation would be to use dose response studies *in vivo* with simultaneous *in vitro* uCP measurements of the same diets. Some preliminary experiments using this method have shown promising results, with a good relationship between *in vitro* uCP and *in vivo* NAN flow and milk production.

Labelling with the isotope <sup>15</sup>N has proven to be a good tool in metabolism studies and much of its potential still remains untapped. Individual AA digestion and the effect on milk production have been studied for a long time, but some AAs in the feed are degraded and resynthesised by ruminal microbes, making it difficult to identify the real pathways of AAs in the animal and contribution in milk. Using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled AA to study digesta flows *in vivo* and AA contribution in the milk could help understand the digestion of feed proteins.

Another potential use of <sup>15</sup>N in nutritional studies is in <sup>15</sup>N-labelled N fractions. Producing sufficient amounts of forages with low levels of <sup>15</sup>N enrichment is not too expensive for *in vitro* experiments. Another option is to use small amounts of highly enriched forages for *in vivo* studies using pulse doses. The sample preparations are laborious but the high precision of <sup>15</sup>N measurements and available modelling techniques could reduce the number of samples needed. Since <sup>15</sup>N is substrate-specific and labelled proteins can only be degraded and used by microbes, it may not be necessary to measure <sup>15</sup>N

enrichment in every digesta fraction separately. The <sup>15</sup>N isotope has been widely used as microbial marker, either to measure the flows or contamination of feed particles, but <sup>15</sup>N-labelled ADIN, which is indigestible, could be used as a passage kinetic marker. This could solve most of the existing problems with passage kinetic markers, since it has the same digestibility and is naturally present in feed particles, meaning it would not influence the results.

# 8 Popular scientific abstract

The growing human population requires quality food and ruminants can provide that in the form of milk and meat, but increasing ruminant production also has an impact on the environment. Sufficient amounts of proteins are needed in the dairy cow diet to produce milk, but extensive amounts of proteins are not well utilised for production and are excreted to the environment. Efficient use of feed proteins is also important for the economics of production, since supplementary protein feeds are expensive and can often be used directly for human food. For example, soybean is a high quality protein source and is often used to increase milk production, but soybean is also used directly as human food or more efficiently for pigs and poultry. Moreover, since soybean cannot be grown in Northern Europe it needs to be imported from far away, which puts more strain on specific sites where it is grown. It is more important to improve the quality and efficiency of forage-based diets supplemented with locally produced concentrates or by-products. Legumes, such as field beans, lupins and peas, are N fixers and therefore require less N fertiliser, and the seeds are high in protein and have potential to be used as supplementary feeds for dairy cows. However, the protein quality in legume seeds is low for ruminants, but it could be improved by heat treatment. Experiments with heat treatment of legume seeds in this thesis indicated improved protein value, based on reduced degradability by rumen microbes and increased protein flow to the duodenum. However, different processing temperatures and methods should be used for different feeds, because extensive heating (on average over 120 °C in autoclave or 140 °C in oven and longer than 30 min) increased the proportion of indigestible protein in the feeds through the Maillard reaction. This would decrease the protein value for cows. However, AA profile of legume seeds is not ideal for supplementation of grass silage-based diets, and therefore the effects of heat treatment need to be validated in production experiments.

This thesis sought to improve laboratory methods for estimating ruminal protein degradation kinetics. The feed evaluation models used to optimise dairy cow diets require accurate digestion parameters and understanding of ruminal degradation of feeds and different feed fractions. A naturally occurring nitrogen isotope <sup>15</sup>N was used to label forage protein fractions during growing. Since <sup>15</sup>N is natural, it does not influence the digestion process and is not harmful in any way. These forages were dried or preserved as silages treated with formic acid additive or without. The in vitro method, in which feeds were incubated in rumen fluid, was used to simulate rumen degradation and the in vivo method (real life) was used to study the degradation process, by following the changes in <sup>15</sup>N concentration in feed proteins and microbial protein. Formic acid treatment effectively improved the fermentation quality of grass and red clover silages and reduced ruminal degradation. Drying forages decreased ruminal degradation and increased estimated protein flow from the rumen, but previous studies have indicated that decreasing degradability does not improve milk production and that higher production responses are mainly related to increased feed dry matter intake.

Laboratory methods have been developed to simulate rumen degradation, in order to reduce labour and costs and increase repeatability (standardisation). Some methods (*in situ*, where feeds are incubated in nylon bags within the rumen) are routinely used to determine the degradation characteristics of feeds, but cannot be used with all protein feeds. For example, soluble proteins and even small feed particles escape the bags without being degraded. The *in vitro* method described in this thesis was used quite successfully for determining degradation of the soluble nitrogen fraction in forages, but is not yet suitable for estimating degradation of insoluble protein fractions. An *in vivo* experiment using <sup>15</sup>N-labelled nitrogen fractions was laborious, but provided valuable input data to models for estimating rumen degradation and broadened the current laboratory evaluation methods need to be improved before they can be used to accurately estimate *in vivo* conditions, and therefore the current *in vivo* methods should still be utilised in ruminant metabolic studies.

# References

- Addison, J. M., Burston, D., Dalrymple, J. A., Matthews, D. M., Payne, J. W., Sleisenger, M. H. and Wilkinson. S. (1975). A common mechanism for transport of di- and tri-peptides by hamster jejunum in vitro. *Clinical Science and Molecular Medicine* 49, 313-322.
- Aguilera, J. F., Bustos, M. and Molina, E. (1992). The degradability of legume seed meals in the rumen: Effect of heat treatment. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 36, 101-112.
- Ahvenjärvi, S., Stefanski, T. and Huhtanen, P. (2009). In vitro method for determining the ruminal degradation rate of rapeseed meal protein using <sup>15</sup>N isotope labelled ammonia nitrogen. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 153, 88-100.
- Ahvenjärvi, S., Vanhatalo, A., Huhtanen, P. and Varvikko, T. (1999). Effects of supplementation of a grass silage and barley diet with urea, rapeseed meal and heat-moisture-treated rapeseed cake on omasal digesta flow and milk production in lactating dairy cows. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A* 49, 179-189.
- Ahvenjärvi, S., Vanhatalo, A., Shingfield, K. J. and Huhtanen, P. (2003). Determination of digesta flow entering the omasal canal of dairy cows using different marker systems. *British Journal of Nutrition* 90, 41-52.
- Bertilsson, J, and Murphy, M. (2003). Effects of feeding clover silages on feed intake, milk production and digestion in dairy cows. *Grass and Forage Science* 58, 309-322.
- Bertilsson, J. (1983). Effects of conservation method and stage of maturity upon the feeding value of forages to dairy cows. Diss. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
- Blake, J. S., Salter, D. N. and Smith, R. H. (1983). Incorporation of nitrogen into rumen bacterial fractions of steers given protein- and urea-containing diets. Ammonia assimilation into intracellular bacterial amino acids. *British Journal of Nutrition* 50, 769-782.
- Bonhomme, A. (1990). Rumen ciliates: their metabolism and relationships with bacteria and their hosts. Animal Feed Science and Technology 30, 203-266.
- Brito, A. F., Broderick, G. A. and Reynal, S. M. (2006). Effect of varying dietary ratios of alfalfa silage to corn silage on omasal flow and microbial protein synthesis in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89, 3939-3953.
- Broderick, A. and Reynal, S. M. (2009). Effect of source of rumen-degraded protein on production and ruminal metabolismin lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 2822-2834.

- Broderick, G. A. (1985). Alfalfa silage or hay versus corn silage as the sole forage for lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 68, 3262-3271.
- Broderick, G. A. (1987). Determination of protein-degradation rates using a rumen in vitro system containing inhibitors of microbial nitrogen-metabolism. *British Journal of Nutrition* 58, 463-475.
- Broderick, G. A. (1994). Quantifying forage protein quality. In: Fahey, G. C., Collins, M., Mertens, D. R. and Moser, L. E. (eds). *Forage Quality, Evaluation and Utilization*. ASA, CSSA and SSSA. Wisconsin, USA, pp 200-228.
- Broderick, G. A. (1995). Performance of lactating dairy cows fed either alfalfa silage or alfalfa hay as the sole forage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 78, 320-329.
- Broderick, G. A. (2003). Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 86, 1370-1381.
- Broderick, G. A. and Craig, W. M. (1980). Effect of heat treatment on ruminal degradation and escape, and intestinal digestibility of cottonseed meal protein. *Journal of Nutrition* 110, 2381-2389.
- Broderick, G. A. and Merchen, N. R. (1992). Markers for quantifying microbial protein synthesis in the rumen. *Journal of Dairy Science* 75, 2618-2632.
- Broderick, G. A., Huhtanen, P., Ahvenjärvi, S., Reynal, S. M. and Shingfield, K. J. (2010). Quantifying ruminal nitrogen metabolism using the omasal sampling technique in cattle-a meta-analysis. *Journal of Dairy Science* 93, 3216-3230.
- Broderick, G. A., Udén, P., Murphy, M. L. and Lapins, A. (2004). Sources of variation in rates of in vitro ruminal protein degradation. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87, 1345-1359.
- Broderick, G. A., Walgenbach, R. P. and Maignan, S. (2001). Production of lactating dairy cows fed alfalfa or red clover silage at equal dry matter or crude protein contents in the diet. *Journal of Dairy Science* 84, 1728-1737.
- Broderick, G. A., Wallace, R. J. and Ørskov, E. R. (1991). Control of rate and extent of protein degradation. In: Tsuda, T., Sasaki, Y. and Kawashima, R. (eds). *Physiological Aspects of Digestion and Metabolism in Ruminants*. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. pp. 541-592.
- Broderick, G. A., Wallace, R. J., Orskov, E. R. and Hansen, L. (1988). Comparison of estimates of ruminal protein degradation by in vitro and in situ methods. *Journal of Animal Science* 66, 1739-1745.
- Bryant, M. P. (1959). Bacterial species of the rumen. Bacteriology Reviews 23, 125-153.
- Burke, J. L., Pacheco, D. and Cosgrove, G. P. (2011). In vitro digestion of ryegrasses harvested in the morning and afternoon to manipulate water soluble carbohydrate concentrations. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* 71, 229-233.
- Carro, M. D. and Miller, E. L. (1999). Effect of supplementing a fibre basal diet with different nitrogen forms on ruminal fermentation and microbial growth in an in vitro semi-continuous culture system (RUSITEC). *British Journal of Nutrition* 82, 149-157.
- Chamberlain, D. G. (1987). Silage fermentation in relation to the utilization of nutrients in the rumen. *Process Biochemistry* 22, 60-63.

- Chamberlain, D. G. and Choung, J. J. (1995). The importance of rate of ruminal fermentation of energy sources in diets for dairy cows. In: Garnsworthy, P. C. and Cole, D. J. A. (eds). *Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition*. Nothingham University Press. Nothingham, UK. pp. 3-27.
- Chen, G., Russell, J. B., Sniffen, C. J. (1987). A procedure for measuring peptides in rumen fluid and evidence that peptide uptake can be a rate-limiting step in ruminal protein degradation. *Journal of Dairy Science* 70, 1211-1219.
- Cheng, L. (2012). Diet effect on nitrogen partitioning and isotopic fractionation ( $\delta^{15}N$ ) in *ruminants*. Diss. Canterbury: Lincoln University.
- Cheng, L., Kim, E. J., Merry, R. J. and Dewhurs, R. J. (2011). Nitrogen partitioning and isotopic fractionation in dairy cows consuming diets based on a range of contrasting forages. *Journal* of Dairy Science 94, 2031-2041.
- Choi, C. W., Ahvenjärvi, S., Vanhatalo, A., Toivonen, V. and Huhtanen, P. (2002). Quantitation of the flow of soluble non-ammonia nitrogen entering the omasal canal of dairy cows fed grass silage based diets. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 96, 203-220.
- Cone, J. W., van Gelder, A. H., Visscher, G. J. W. and Oudshoorn, L. (1996). Influence of rumen fluid and substrate concentration on fermentation kinetics measured with a fully automated time related gas production apparatus. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 61, 113-128.
- Coulon, Jb., Pradel, P. and Verdier, I. (1997). Effect of forage conservation (hay or silage) on chemical composition of milk. *Annales de zootechnie* 46, 21-26.
- Dakowski, P., Weisbjerg, M. R. and Hvelplund, T. (1996). The effect of temperature during processing of rape seed meal on amino acid degradation in the rumen and digestion in the intestine. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 58, 213-226.
- Dawson, L. E. R., Ferris, C. P., Steen, R. W. J., Gordon, F. J. and Kilpatrick, D. J. (1999). The effects of wilting grass before ensiling on silage intake. *Grass and Forage Science* 54, 237-247.
- Derbyshire, J. C., Gordon, C. H. and Waldo. D. R. (1976). Formic acid as a silage preservative for milking cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 59, 278-287.
- Dewhurst, R. J. (2013). Milk production from silage: comparison of grass, legume and maize silages and their mixtures. *Agricultural and Food Science* 22, 57-69.
- Dewhurst, R. J., Evans, R. T., Scollan, N. D., Moorby, J.M., Merry, R. J. and Wilkins, R. J. (2003a). Comparison of grass and legume silages for milk production 2. In vivo and in sacco evaluations of rumen function. *Journal of Dairy Science* 86, 2612-2621.
- Dewhurst, R. J., Fisher, W. J., Tweed, J. K. and Wilkins, R. J. (2003b). Comparison of grass and legume silages for milk production. 1. Production responses with different levels of concentrate. *Journal of Dairy Science* 86, 2598-2611.
- Dobson, D. E., Prager, E. M. and Wilson, A. C. (1984). Stomach lysozymes of ruminants. I. Distribution and catalytic properties. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 259, 11607-11616.
- Driehuis, F., van Wikselaar, P. G. and van Vuuren, A. M. (1995). Effect of formic, acetic and propionic acid on preservation and aerobic deterioration of grass silage. *Annales de Zootechnie* 44, Suppl. 95.
- Edmunds, B., Spiekers, H., Südekum, K.-H., Nussbaum, H., Schwarz, F. J. and Bennett, R. (2014). Effect of extent and rate of wilting on nitrogen components of grass silage. *Grass and Forage Science* 69, 140-152.

- Edmunds, B., Südekum, K.-H., Bennett, R., Schröder, A., Spiekers, H. and Schwarz, F. J. (2013). The amino acid composition of rumen-undegradable protein: a comparison between forages. *Journal of Dairy Science* 96, 4568-4577.
- Edmunds, B., Südekum, K.-H., Spiekers, H., Schuster, M. and Schwarz, F. J. (2012). Estimating utilisable crude protein at the duodenum, a precursor to metabolisable protein for ruminants, from forages using a modified gas test. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 175, 106-113.
- EU Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council (2000). Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32000L0060 [2017-02-24]
- Eugene, M., Archimede, H. and Sauvant, D. (2004). Quantitative meta-analysis on the effects of defaunation of the rumen on growth, intake and digestion in ruminants. *Livestock Production Science* 85, 81-97.
- Eurostat (2016). *Milk and milk product statistics*. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Milk\_and\_milk\_product\_statistics [2017-02-24]
- Faichney, G. J. (1975). The use of markers to partition digestion within the gastrointestinal tract. In: MacDonald, I. W. and Warner, A.A.I. (eds). *Digestion and Metabolism in the Ruminant*. University of New England Publishing Unit. Armidale, NSW, Australia. pp. 277-291.
- FAO. (2004). Assessing Quality and Safety of Animal Feeds, Issue 160. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy.
- FAOSTAT (2014) *Livestock Primary FAO Global Statistical Yearbook*. Available at: http://faostat.fao.org/beta/en/#data/QL [2017-02-24]
- Feldhamer, G. A., Drickamer, L. C., Vessey, S. H., Merritt, J. F. and Krajewski, C. (2005). *Mammalogy 4th ed.* Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD, USA.
- Firkins, J. L. and Yu, Z. (2008). Characterisation and quantification of the microbial populations in the rumen. In: Sejrsen, K., Hvelplund, T. and Nielsen, M. O. (eds.) *Ruminant physiology, digestion, metabolism and impact of nutrition on gene expression, immunology and stress*. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands. pp. 19-54
- Fox, J. B. and Brown, S. M. (1969). The effect of fertilizer nitrogen on silage fermentation. Grass and Forage Science 24, 23-24.
- France, J. and R. C. Siddons. (1986). Determination of digesta flow by continuous marker infusion. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 121, 105-120.
- Fulghum, R. S., and Moore, W. E. C. (1963). Isolation, enumeration, and characteristics of proteolytic ruminal bacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology* 85, 808-815.
- Getachew, G., Blümmel, M., Makkar, H. P. S. and Becker, K. (1998). In vitro gas measuring techniques for assessment of nutritional quality of feeds: a review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 74, 261-281.
- Gidlund, H., Ahvenjärvi, S., Rinne, M., Vaga, M., Ramin, M. and Huhtanen, P. (2017). Predicting omasal flow of non-ammonia N and milk protein yield from in vitro determined utilizable crude protein at the duodenum (unpublished).
- Gidlund, H., Hetta, M., Krizsan, S. J., Lemosquet, S. and Huhtanen, P. (2015). Effects of soybean meal or canola meal on milk production and methane emissions in lactating dairy cows fed grass silage-based diets. *Journal of Dairy Science* 98, 8093-8106.

- Goelema, J. O., Spreeuwenberg, M. A. M., Hof, G., van der Poel, A. F. B. and Tamminga, S. (1998). Effect of pressure toasting on the rumen degradability of whole and broken peas, lupins and faba beans and a mixture of these feedstuffs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 76, 35-50.
- Gordon, G. L. and Phillips, M. W. (1998). The role of anaerobic gut fungi in ruminants. *Nutrition Research Reviews* 11, 133-168.
- Grabber, J. H. and Coblentz, W. K. (2009). Polyphenol, conditioning, and conservation effects on protein fractions and degradability in forage legumes. *Crop science* 49, 1511-1522.
- Groff, E. B. and Wu, Z. (2005). Milk production and nitrogen excretion of dairy cows fed different amounts of protein and varying of alfalfa and corn silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88, 3619-3632.
- Halmemies-Beauchet-Filleau, A., Vanhatalo, A., Toivonen, V., Heikkilä, T., Lee M. R. and Shingfield, K. J. (2014). Effect of replacing grass silage with red clover silage on nutrient digestion, nitrogen metabolism, and milk fat composition in lactating cows fed diets containing a 60:40 forage-to-concentrate ratio. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 3761-3776.
- Hansson, K. (2004). Comparison of the rumen passage rate of different forages using rare-earth markers. Diss. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
- Harrison, J., Huhtanen, P. and Collins, M. (2003). Perennial grasses. In: Buxton, D. R., Muck, R. E. and Harrison, J. H. (eds). *Silage Science and Technology*. American Society of Agronomy. Madison, Wisconsin, USA. pp. 665-747.
- Hedqvist, H. and Udén, P. (2006). Measurement of soluble protein degradation in the rumen. Animal Feed Science and Technology 126, 1-21.
- Heikkilä, T., Toivonen, V. and Mela, T. (1992). Comparison of red clover-grass silage with grass silage for milk production. In: *Proceedings of the 14th General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation*. 8-11 June, 1992, Lahti, Finland. pp. 388-391.
- Henderson, G., Cox, F., Ganesh, S., Jonker, A., Young, W. and Janssen, P. H. (2015). Rumen microbial community composition varies with diet and host, but a core microbiome is found across a wide geographical range. *Scientific Reports* 5, 14567.
- Hetta, M., Nordheim, H., Gustavsson, A.-M. and Martinsson, K. (2008). Comparison of in vitro degradation of temperate forages using the gas production and filter bag techniques. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 88, 199-206.
- Hino, T. and Russell, J. B. (1987). Relative contributions of ruminal bacteria and protozoa to the degradation of protein in vitro. *Journal of Animal Science* 64, 261-270.
- Hoffman, J. R. and Falvo, M. J. (2004). Protein Which is Best? Journal of Sports Science & Medicine 3, 118-130.
- Holden, L. A., Muller, L. D., Varga, G. A. and Hillard, P. J. (1994). Ruminal digestion and duodenal nutrient flows in dairy cows consuming grass as pasture, hay, or silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 77, 3034-3042.
- Hook, S. E., Wright, A.-D. G. and McBride, B. W. (2010). Methanogens: Methane producers of the rumen and mitigation strategies. *Archaea* 2010, 945785.
- Hristov, A. N. and Broderick, G. A. (1996). Synthesis of microbial protein in ruminally cannulated cows fed alfalfa silage, alfalfa hay, or corn silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 79, 1627-1637.

- Hristov, A. N. and Sandev, S. G. (1998). Proteolysis and rumen degradability of protein in alfalfa preserved as silage, wilted silage or hay. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 72, 175-181.
- Hristov, A. N. and Jouany, J. (2005). Factors affecting the efficiency of nitrogen utilization in the rumen. In: Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A. N. (eds). *Nitrogen and phosphorus nutrition of cattle: reducing the environmental impact of cattle operations*. CABI Publishing. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK. pp. 117-166.
- Hristov, A. N., Huhtanen, P., Rode, L. M., Acharya, S. N. and McAllister, T. A. (2001). Comparison of the ruminal metabolism of nitrogen from <sup>15</sup>N-labeled alfalfa preserved as hay or as silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 84, 2738-2750.
- Hristov, A. N., McAllister, T. A., Ouellet, D. R. and Broderick, G. A. (2005). Comparison of purines and nitrogen-15 as microbial flow markers in beef heifers fed barley- or corn-based diets. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 85, 211-222.
- Hristov, A. N. and Broderick, G. A. (1994). In vitro determination of ruminal protein degradability using [<sup>15</sup>N] ammonia to correct for microbial nitrogen uptake. *Journal of Animal Science* 72, 1344-1354.
- Huhtanen, P. (1991). Associative effects of feeds in ruminants. Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, Suppl. 5, 37-57.
- Huhtanen, P. (1993). Forage influences on milk composition. In: *Proceedings of Nova Scotia Forage Conference*. October 29-30, 1993. Dartmouth, N.S., Canada. pp. 144-162.
- Huhtanen, P. (2017). Feed evaluation and formulation to maximise nutritional efficiency in dairy cattle. In: Webster, J. (ed). Achieving sustainable production of milk - Vol.3. Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing Limited. Cambridge, UK.
- Huhtanen, P. and Broderick, G. A. (2016). Improving utilisation of forage protein in ruminant production by crop and feed management. In: *Proceedings of the 26th EGF General Meeting*. 4-8 September, 2016. Trondheim, Norway. pp. 340-349.
- Huhtanen, P. and Hristov, A.N. (2009). A meta-analysis of the effects of dietary protein concentration and degradability on milk protein yield and milk N efficiency in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 3222-3232.
- Huhtanen, P., Bayat, A., Krizsan, S. J. and Vanhatalo, A. (2014). Compartmental flux and in situ methods underestimate total feed nitrogen as judged by the omasal sampling method due to ignoring soluble feed nitrogen flow. *British Journal of Nutrition* 111, 535-546.
- Huhtanen, P., Brotz, P. G. and Satter, L. D. (1997). Omasal sampling technique for assessing fermentative digestion in the forestomach of dairy cows. *Journal of Animal Science* 75, 1380-1392.
- Huhtanen, P., Hetta, M. and Swensson, C. (2011). Evaluation of canola meal as a protein supplement for dairy cows: A review and a meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 91, 529-543.
- Huhtanen, P., Nousiainen, J. I., Khalili, H., Jaakkola, S. and Heikkila, T. (2003). Relationships between silage fermentation characteristics and milk production parameters: analyses of literature data. *Livestock Production Science* 81, 57-73.
- Huhtanen, P., Rinne, M. and Nousiainen, J. (2007). Evaluation of the factors affecting silage intake of dairy cows: a revision of the relative silage dry-matter intake index. *Animal* 1, 578-770.

- Huhtanen, P., Seppälä, A., Ots, M., Ahvenjärvi, S. and Rinne, M. (2008). In vitro gas production profiles to estimate extent and effective first-order rate of neutral detergent fiber digestion in the rumen. *Journal of Animal Science* 86, 651-659.
- Huhtanen, P., Vanhatalo, A. and Varvikko, T. (1998). Enzyme activities of rumen particles and feed samples incubated in situ with differing types of cloth. *British Journal of Nutrition* 79, 161-168.
- Hungate, R. E., Smith, W., Bauchop, T., Yu, I., and Rabinowitz, J. C. (1970). Formate as an Intermediate in the Bovine Rumen Fermentation. *Journal of Bacteriology* 102, 389-397.
- Huss-Danell, K., Chaia, E. and Carlsson, G. (2007). N<sub>2</sub> fixation and nitrogen allocation to above and below ground plant parts in red clover-grasslands. *Plant and Soil* 299, 215-226.
- Huuskonen, A., Pesonen, M. and Joki-Tokola, E. (2014). Effects of supplementary concentrate level and separate or total mixed ration feeding on performance of growing dairy bulls. *Agricultural and Food Science* 24, 257-265
- Hvelplund, T. (1985). Digestibility of rumen microbial protein and undegraded dietary protein estimated in the small intestine of sheep and by in sacco procedure [nylon bag technique, amino acids absorbable in the small intestine (AAT). Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Suppl. 25, 132-144.
- Hvelplund, T. and Weisbjerg, M. R. (2000). In situ techniques for the estimation of protein degradability and postrumen availability. In: Givens, D. I., Owen, E., Axford, R. F. E. and Omed. H. M. (eds). *Forage Evaluation in Ruminant Nutrition*. CABI publishing, Wallingford, UK. pp. 233-258.
- Ipharraguerre, I. R. and Clark. J. H. (2005). Impacts of the source and amount of crude protein in the intestinal supply of nitrogen fractions and performance of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88, E22-E37.
- Jaakkola, S. and Huhtanen, P. (1993). The effects of forage preservation method and proportion of concentrate on nitrogen digestion and rumen fermentation in cattle. *Grass and Forage Science* 48, 146-154.
- Jaakkola, S., Kaunisto, V. and Huhtanen, P. (2006). Volatile fatty acid proportions and microbial protein synthesis in the rumen of cattle receiving grass silage ensiled with different rates of formic acid. *Grass and Forage Science* 61, 282-292.
- Janssen, P. H. and Kirs, M. (2008). Structure of the archaeal community of the rumen. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74, 3619-3625.
- Jones, B. A., Hatfield, R. D. and Muck, R. E. (1992). Effect of fermentation and bacterial inoculation on lucerne cell walls. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 60, 147-153.
- Jones, B. A., Hatfield, R. D. and Muck, R. E. (1995a). Screening legume forages for soluble phenols, polyphenol oxidase and extract browning. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 67, 109-112.
- Jones, B. A., Muck, R. E. and Hatfield, R. D. (1995b). Red clover extracts inhibit legume proteolysis. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 67, 329-333.
- Jones, D. and Hayward, M. (1975). The effect of pepsin pretreatment of herbage on the prediction of dry matter digestibility from solubility in fungal cellulase solutions. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 26, 711-718.

- Kang Meznarich, J. H. and Broderick, G. A. (1980). Effects of incremental urea supplementation on ruminal ammonia concentration and bacterial protein formation. *Journal of Animal Science* 51, 422-431.
- Karlsson, L., Hetta, M., Udén, P. and Martinsson, K. (2009). New methodology for estimating rumen protein degradation using the in vitro gas production technique. *Animal Feed Science* and Technology 153, 193-202.
- Kennedy, P. M. and Milligan, L. P. (1980). The degradation and utilization of endogenous urea in the gastrointestinal tract of ruminants: a review. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 60, 205-221.
- Koenig, K. M., Newbold, C. J., McIntosh, F. M. and Rode, L. M. (2000). Effects of protozoa on bacterial nitrogen recycling in the rumen. *Journal of Animal Science* 78, 2431-2445.
- Kozloski, G. V., Stefanello, C. M., Mesquita, F. R., Alves, T. P., Ribeiro Filho, H. M., Almeida, J. G. and Moraes Genro, T.C. (2014). Technical note: Evaluation of markers for estimating duodenal digesta flow and ruminal digestibility: Acid detergent fiber, sulfuric acid detergent lignin, and n-alkanes. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 1730-1735.
- Krishnamoorthy, U., Steingass, H. and Menke, K. H. (1990). The contribution of ammonia, amino acids and short peptides to estimates of protein degradability in vitro. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition* 63, 135-141.
- Kuoppala, K., Ahvenjärvi, S., Rinne, M. and Vanhatalo, A. (2009). Effects of feeding grass or red clover silage cut at two maturity stages in dairy cows. 2. Dry matter intake and cell wall digestion kinetics. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 5634-5644.
- Lapierre, H. and Lobley, G. E. (2001). Nitrogen Recycling in the Ruminant: A Review. *Journal of Dairy Science* 84, Suppl. E223-E236.
- Lebzien, P. and Voigt, J. (1999). Calculation of utilisable crude protein at the duodenum of cattle by two different approaches. *Archives of Animal Nutrition* 52, 363-369.
- Lee, M. R. F. (2014). Forage polyphenol oxidase and ruminant livestock nutrition. Frontiers in Plant Science 5, 694.
- Lee, S. S., Ha, J. K. and Cheng, K.-J. (2000). Relative contributions of bacteria, protozoa, and fungi to in vitro degradation of orchard grass cell walls and their interactions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66, 3807-3813.
- Leng, R. A. and Nolan, J. V. (1984). Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. *Journal of Dairy Science* 67, 1072-1089.
- López, S. (2005). In vitro and in situ techniques for estimating digestibility. In: Dijkstra, J., Forbes, J. M. and France, J. (eds). *Quantitative Aspects of Ruminant Digestion and Metabolism, 2nd ed.* CAB International. Wallingford, UK. pp. 87-121.
- Madsen, J. and Hvelplund, T. (1994). Prediction of in situ protein degradability in the rumen. Results of a European ringtest. *Livestock Production Science* 39, 201-212.
- Marini, J. C. and Van Amburgh, M. E. (2003). Nitrogen metabolism and recycling in Holstein heifers. *Journal of Animal Science* 81, 545-552.
- Martineau, R., Lapierre, H., Ouellet, D. R., Pellerin, D. and Berthiaume, R. (2007). Effects of the method of conservation of timothy on nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90, 2870-2882.
- Mathison, G. W. and Milligan, L. (1971). Nitrogen metabolism in sheep. British Journal of Nutrition 25, 351-366.
- May, M. G., Otterby, D. E., Linn, J. G., Hansen, W. P., Johnson, D. G. and Putnam, D. H. (1993). Lupins (Lupinus albus) as a protein supplement for lactating Holstein dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 76, 2682-2691.
- McDougall, E. I. (1948). Studies on ruminant saliva. 1. The composition and output of sheep's saliva. *Biochemical Journal* 43, 99-109.
- Menke, K. H. and Steingaß, H. (1988). Estimation of the energetic feed value obtained from chemical analysis and in vitro gas production using rumen fluid. *Animal Research and Development* 28, 7-25.
- Meyer, J. H., and Mackie, R. I. (1986). Microbiological evaluation of the intraruminal in sacculus digestion technique. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 51, 622-629.
- Michalet-Doreau, B. and Ould-Bah, M. Y. (1992). In vitro and in sacco methods for the estimation of dietary nitrogen degradability in the rumen: a review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 40, 57-86.
- Moorby, J. M., Lee, M. R., Davies, D. R., Kim, E. J., Nute, G. R., Ellis, N. M. and Scollan, N. D. (2009). Assessment of dietary ratios of red clover and grass silages on milk production and milk quality in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 1148-1160.
- Moshtaghi Nia, S. A. and Ingalls, J. R. (1995). Influence of moist heat treatment on ruminal and intestinal disappearance of amino acids from canola meal. *Journal of Dairy Science* 78, 1552-1560.
- Moss, A. R., Givens, D. I. and Phipps, R. H. (1992). Digestibility and energy value of combinations of forage mixtures. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 39, 151-172.
- Mould, F. L., Kliem, K. E., Morgan, R. and Mauricio, R. M. (2005). In vitro microbial inoculum: A review of its function and properties. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 123, 31-50.
- Murphy, M., Åkerlind, M. and Holtenius, K. (2000). Rumen fermentation in lactating cows selected for milk fat content fed two forage to concentrate ratios with hay or silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 83, 756-764.
- Mustafa, A. F., Chouinard, Y. P., Ouellet, D. R. and Soita, H. (2003). Effects of moist heat treatment on ruminal nutrient degradability of sunflower seed. *Journal of the Science of Food* and Agriculture 83, 1059-1064.
- Nagel, S. A. and Broderick, G. A. (1992). Effect of formic acid or formaldehyde treatment of alfalfa silage on nutrient utilization by dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 75, 140-154.
- Nelson, W. F. and Satter, L. D. (1992). Impact of stage of maturity and method of preservation of alfalfa on digestion in lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 75, 1571-1580.
- Newbold, J. R. and Rust, S. R. (1992). Effect of asynchronous nitrogen and energy supply on growth of ruminal bacteria in batch culture. *Journal of Animal Science* 70, 538-546.
- Newey, H and Smyth, D. H. (1960). Intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides during intestinal absorption. *Journal of Physiology* 152, 367-380.
- Nocek, J. E. (1988). In situ and other methods to estimate ruminal protein and energy digestibility: a review. *Journal of Dairy Science* 71, 2051-2069.

- Nocek, J. E. and Grant, A. L. (1987). Characterization of in situ nitrogen and fiber digestion and bacterial nitrogen contamination of hay crop forages preserved at different dry matter percentages. *Journal of Animal Science* 64, 552-564.
- Nolan, J. V. and Leng, R. A. (1972). Dynamic aspects of ammonia and urea metabolism in sheep. *British Journal of Nutrition* 27, 177-194.
- Nolan, J. V. and Leng, R. A. (1974). Isotope techniques for studying the dynamics of nitrogen metabolism in ruminants. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 33, 1-8.
- Nowak, W., Michalak, S. and Wylegala, S. (2005). In situ evaluation of ruminal degradability and intestinal digestibility of extruded soybeans. *Czech Journal of Animal Science* 50, 281-287.
- NRC (1985). Nutrient Requirements of Domestic Animals. Nutrient Requirements of Sheep. National Academy Press. Washington, DC, USA.
- NRC (2001). Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th rev. ed. National Academy Press. Washington, DC, USA.
- Nugent, J. H. A. and Mangan, J. L. (1981). Characteristics of the rumen proteolysis of fraction I (18S) leaf protein from lucerne (Medicago sativa L). *British Journal of Nutrition* 46, 39-58.
- Oldick, B. S., Firkins, J. L. and Kohn, R. A. (2000). Compartmental modeling with nitrogen-15 to determine effects of degree of fat saturation on intraruminal N recycling. *Journal of Animal Science* 78, 2421-2430.
- Olmos Colmenero, J. J. and Broderick, G. A. (2006). Effect of amount and ruminal degradability of soybean meal protein on performance of lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89, 1635-1643.
- Orpin, C. G. (1975). Studies on the rumen flagellate Neocallimastix frontalis. Journal of General Microbiology 91, 249-262
- Ørskov, E. R. (1976). The effect of processing on digestion and utilization of cereals by ruminants. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 35, 245-252.
- Ørskov, E. R. and McDonald, I. (1979). The estimation of protein degradability in the rumen from incubation measurements weighted according to rate of passage. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 92, 499-503.
- Ørskov, E. R. and Ryle, R. (1990). *Energy Nutrition in Ruminants*. Elsevier Science Publishers; New York, NY, USA.
- Owens, F. N., Kazemi, M., Galyean, M., Mizwicki, K. L. and Solaiman, S. G. (1979). Ruminal turnover rate-influence of feed additives, feed intake and roughage level. *Animal Science Research Report of the Oklahoma Agricultural Research Station* 1979, 27-29.
- Papadopoulos, Y. A. and McKersie, B. D. (1983). A comparison of protein degradation during wilting and ensiling of six forage species. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 63, 903-912.
- Pell, A. N. and Schofield, P. (1993). Computerized monitoring of gas production to measure forage digestion in vitro. *Journal of Dairy Science* 76, 1063-1073.
- Peltekova, V. D. and Broderick, G. A. (1996). In vitro ruminal degradation and synthesis of protein on fractions extracted from alfalfa hay and silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 79, 612-619.
- Peyraud, J. L. and Astigarraga, L. (1998). Review of the effect of nitrogen fertilization on the chemical composition, intake, digestion and nutritive value of fresh herbage: consequences on animal nutrition and N balance. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 72, 235-259.

- Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A. N. (2005). Interactions between cattle and the environment: a general introduction. In: Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A. N. (eds). Nitrogen and phosphorus nutrition of cattle: reducing the environmental impact of cattle operations. CABI Publishing. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK. pp. 1-13.
- Prins, R. A, van Rheenen, D. L. and van't Klooster, A. T. (1983). Characterization of microbial proteolytic enzymes in the rumen. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 49, 585-595.
- Puhakka, L., Jaakkola, S., Simpura, I., Kokkonen, T. and Vanhatalo, A. (2016). Effects of replacing rapeseed meal with fava bean at 2 concentrate crude protein levels on feed intake, nutrient digestion, and milk production in cows fed grass silage-based diets. *Journal of Dairy Science* 99, 7993-8006.
- Quin, J. I., Van Der Wath, J. G. and Myburgh, S. (1938). Studies on the alimentary canal of Merino sheep in South Africa 4 Description of experimental technique. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Science and Animal Industry* 11, 341-360.
- Raab, L., Cafantaris, B., Jilg, T. and Menke, K. H. (1983). Rumen protein degradation and biosynthesis. 1. A new method for determination of protein degradation in rumen fluid in vitro. *British Journal of Nutrition* 50, 569-582.
- Ramin, M. and Huhtanen, P. (2012). Development of an in vitro method for determination of methane production kinetics using a fully automated in vitro gas system - A modelling approach. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 174, 190-200.
- Ramin, M., Höjer, A., Fogelberg, F., Hetta, M. and Huhtanen, P. (2015). Effect of heat treated field beans on the performance of Swedish lactating dairy cows. In: *Proceedings of the 6th Nordic Feed Science Conference*. 4-5 June, 2015. Uppsala, Sweden. pp. 111-115.
- Ramin, M., Krizsan, S. J., Jančík, F. and Huhtanen, P. (2013). Short communication: measurements of methane emissions from feed samples in filter bags or dispersed in the medium in an in vitro gas production system. *Journal of Dairy Science* 96, 4643-4646.
- Ramin, M., Lerose, D., Tagliapietra, F. and Huhtanen, P. (2015). Comparison of rumen fluid inoculum vs. faecal inoculum on predicted methane production using a fully automated in vitro gas production system. *Livestock Science* 181, 65-71.
- Ramos-Morales, E., Arco-Pérez, A., Martín-García, A. I., Yáñez-Ruiz, D. R., Frutos, P. and Hervás, G. (2014). Use of stomach tubing as an alternative to rumen cannulation to study ruminal fermentation and microbiota in sheep and goats. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 198, 57-66.
- Reynal, S. M. and Broderick, G. A. (2005). Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88, 4045-4064.
- Reynal, S. M., Ipharraguerre, I. R., Lineiro, M., Brito, A. F., Broderick, G. A. and Clark, J. H. (2007). Omasal flow of soluble proteins, peptides, and free amino acids in dairy cows fed diets supplemented with proteins of varying ruminal degradabilities. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90, 1887-1903.
- Rinne, M., Jaakkola, S. and Huhtanen, P. (1997). Grass maturity effects on cattle fed silage-based diets. 1. Organic matter digestion, rumen fermentation and nitrogen utilization. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 67, 1-17.

- Robinson, P. H. and McNiven, M. A. (1993). Nutritive-value of raw and roasted sweet white lupins (Lupinus albus) for lactating dairy-cows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 43, 275-290.
- Roffler, R. E., Niedermeier, R. P. and Baumgardt, B. R. (1967). Evaluation of alfalfa-brome forage stored as wilted silage, low-moisture silage, and hay. *Journal of Dairy Science* 50, 1805-1813.
- Russell, J. B., O'Connor, JD, Fox, D. G., Van Soest, P. J. and Sniffen, C. J. (1992). A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: I. Ruminal fermentation. *Journal* of Animal Science 70, 3551-3561.
- Russell, J. B., Sniffen, C. J. and Van Soest, P. J. (1983). Effect of carbohydrate limitation on degradation and utilization of casein by mixed rumen bacteria. *Journal of Dairy Science* 66, 763-775.
- Santos, F. A. P., Santos, J. E. P., Theurer, C. B. and Huber, J. T. (1998). Effects of rumenundegradable protein on dairy cow performance: A 12-year literature review. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81, 3182-3213.
- Satter, L. D. and Slyter, L. L. (1974). Effect of ammonia concentration of rumen microbial protein production in vitro. *British Journal of Nutrition* 31, 179-184.
- Sauvant, D. and van Milgen, J. (1995). Dynamic aspects of carbohydrate and protein breakdown and the associated microbial matter synthesis. In: Engelhardt, W. V., Leonhard-Marek, S., Breves, G. and Giesecke, D. (eds) *Ruminant Physiology: Digestion, Metabolism, Growth and Reproduction*. Ferdinand Enke Verlag. Stuttgart, Germany, pp. 71-91.
- Schwab, C. G, Satter, L. D. and Clay, B. (1976). Response to lactating dairy cows to abomasal infusion of amino acids. *Journal of Dairy Science* 59, 1254-1270.
- Schwab, C. G. (2008). Rumen protected proteins and amino acids for ruminants. In: Wallace, J. R. and Chesson, R. (eds). *Biotechnology in Animal Feeds and Animal Feeding*. John Wiley & Sons. Hoboken, NJ, USA. pp. 115-142.
- Schwab, C. G., Huhtanen, P., Hunt, C. W. and Hvelplund, T. (2005). Nitrogen Requirements of Cattle. In: Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A. N. (eds). *Nitrogen and phosphorus nutrition of cattle: reducing the environmental impact of cattle operations*. CABI Publishing. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK. pp. 13-70.
- Shingfield, K. J., Jaakkola, S. and Huhtanen, P. (2001). Effects of level of nitrogen fertilizer application and various nitrogenous supplements on milk production and nitrogen utilization of dairy cows given grass silage-based diets. *Animal Science* 73, 541-554.
- Shingfield, K. J., Jaakkola, S. and Huhtanen, P. (2002). Effect of forage conservation method, concentrate level and propylene glycol on intake, feeding behaviour and milk production of dairy cows. *Animal Science* 74, 383-397.
- Shingfield, K. J., Salo-Väänänen, P., Pahkala, E., Toivonen, V., Jaakkola, S., Piironen, V. and Huhtanen, P. (2005). Effect of forage conservation method, concentrate level and propylene glycol on the fatty acid composition and vitamin content of cows' milk. *Journal of Dairy Research* 72, 349-361.
- Shingfield, K. J., Vanhatalo, A. and Huhtanen, P. (2003). Comparison of heat-treated rapeseed expeller and solvent-extracted soya-bean meal as protein supplements for dairy cows given grass silage-based diets. *Animal Science* 77, 305-317.

- Sinclair, L. A., Garnsworthy, P. C., Newbold, J. R. and Buttery, P. J. (1995). Effects of synchronizing the rate of dietary energy and nitrogen release in diets with a similar carbohydrate composition on rumen fermentation and microbial protein synthesis in sheep. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 124, 463-472.
- Singh, C. K., Robinson, P. H. and McNiven, M. A. (1995). Evaluation of raw and roasted lupin seeds as protein supplements for lactating cows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 52, 63-76.
- Sjögersten, S., Kuijper, D. P. J., van der Wal, R., Loonen, M. J. J. E., Huiskes, A. H. L. and Woodin, S. J. (2010). Nitrogen transfer between herbivores and their forage species. *Polar Biology* 33, 1195-1203.
- Sniffen, C. J., O'Connor, J. D., Van Soest, P. J., Fox, D. G. and Russell, J. B. (1992). A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: II. Carbohydrate and protein availability. *Journal of Animal Science* 70, 3562-3577.
- Spörndly, R. (2013). Rumen degradability of protein in field beans after heat treatment or ensiling. In: *Proceedings of the 4th Nordic Feed Science Conference*. 12-13 June, 2013. Uppsala, Sweden. pp. 39-42.
- Steel, K. W. and Daniel, R. M. (1978). Fractionation of nitrogen isotopes by animals: a further complication to the use of variations in the natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N for tracer studies. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 90, 7-9.
- Steen, R. W. J. (1992). The performance of beef cattle given silages made from perennial ryegrasses of different maturity groups, cut on different dates. *Grass and Forage Science* 47, 239-248.
- Steingaß, H. and Südekum, K.-H. (2013). Proteinbewertung beim Wiederkäuer Grundlagen, analytische Entwicklungen und Perspektiven. Übersichten zur Tierernährung 41, 51-73.
- Steinshamn, H. (2010). Effect of forage legumes on feed intake, milk production and milk quality - a review. Animal science papers and reports 28, 195-206.
- Stern, M. D., Santos, K. A. and Satter, L. D. (1985). Protein degradation in rumen and amino acid absorption in small intestine of lactating dairy cattle fed heat-treated whole soybeans. *Journal* of Dairy Science 68, 45-56.
- Storm, E. and Ørskov, E. R. (1983). The nutritive value of rumen micro-organisms in ruminants.
  1. Large-scale isolation and chemical composition of rumen micro-organisms. *British Journal* of Nutrition 50, 463-470.
- Sylvester, J. T., Karnati, S. K., Yu, Z., Newbold, C. J. and Firkins, J. L. (2005). Evaluation of a real-time PCR assay quantifying the ruminal pool size and duodenal flow of protozoal nitrogen. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88, 2083-2095.
- Tamminga, S., Ketelaar, R. and van Vuuren, A. M. (1991). Degradation of nitrogenous compounds in conserved forages in the rumen of dairy cows. *Grass and Forage Science* 46, 427-435.
- Taylor, N. L. and Quesenberry, K. H. (2013). Red Clover Science. Vol. 28 of Current Plant Science and Biotechnology in Agriculture. Springer Science and Business Media. Berlin, Germany.

- Theodorou, M. K., Williams, B. A., Dhanoa, M. S., McAllan, A. B. and France, J. (1994). A simple gas production method using a pressure transducer to determine the fermentation kinetics of ruminant feeds. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 48, 185-197.
- Thomas, C. and Rae, R. C. (2013). Concentrate supplementation of silage for dairy cows. In: Garnsworthy, P. C. (ed). *Nutrition and Lactation in the Dairy Cow*. Butterworth-Heinemann Elsevier Ltd. Oxford, UK. pp. 327-354.
- Thomas, C., Aston, K. and Daley, S. R. (1985). Milk production from silage 3. A comparison of red clover with grass silage. *Animal Science* 41, 23-31.
- Tilley, J. M. A. and Terry, R. A. (1963). A two-stage technique for in vitro digestion of forage crops. *Grass and Forage Science* 18, 104-111.
- Tufarelli, V., Khan, R. U. and Laudadio, V. (2012). Evaluating the suitability of field beans as a substitute for soybean meal in early-lactating dairy cow: production and metabolic responses. *Journal of Animal Science* 83, 136-140
- Tunlid, A., Odham, G., Findlay, R. H. and White, D. C. (1985). Precision and sensitivity of the measurement of <sup>15</sup>N enrichment in D-alanine from bacterial cell walls using positive/negative ion mass spectrometry. *The Journal of Microbiological Methods* 3, 237-245.
- Tuori, M., Syrjälä-Qvist, L. and Jansson, S. (2002). Red clover and meadow fescue silages fed in different proportions in milk production. In: *Proceedings of 13th International Silage Conference*. 11-13 September, 2002. Auchincruive, Scotland. pp. 130-131.
- Undi, M., Moshtaghi-Nia, S. A., Wittenberg, K. M. and Ingalls, J. R. (1996). A comparative study on amino acid availability of moist heated canola meal for poultry vs. ruminants. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 63, 179-186.
- Unkovich, M., Herridge, D., Peoples, M., Cadisch, G., Boddey, R., Giller, K., Alves, B. and Chalk, P. (2008). *Measuring plant-associated nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems*. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research. Canberra, Australia.
- USDA (2017). Dairy data. Available at: https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/dairy-data.aspx [2017-02-24]
- Vagnoni, D. B. and Broderick, G. A. (1997). Effects of Supplementation of Energy or Ruminally Undegraded Protein to Lactating Cows Fed Alfalfa Hay or Silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 80, 1703-1712.
- Valente, T. N. P., Detmann, E. and Sampaio, C. B. (2015). Review: Recent advances in evaluation of bags made from different textiles used in situ ruminal degradation. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 95, 493-498.
- Van der Meer, J. M. (1986). Optimal prediction of in vivo organic matter digestibility for ruminants by in vitro methods. (IVVO Rapport, 1986:177. p. 11). Lelystad, the Netherlands.
- Van Soest, P. J. (1994). Nutritional Ecology of the Ruminant. 2nd ed. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Van Straalen, W. M. and S. Tamminga. (1990). Protein degradability in ruminant diets. In: Wiseman, J. and. Cole, D.J.A. (eds). *Feed Evaluation*. London, Butterworth. pp. 55.
- Vanhatalo, A. and Toivonen, V. (1993). Microbial protein synthesis in cattle fed silage cut from grass fertilized with different levels of N. In: *Proceedings of 10th International Silage Conference*. 6-8 September, 1993. Dublin, Ireland. pp. 168-169

- Vanhatalo, A., Dakowski, P. and Huhtanen, P. (1996). Effects of stage of growth and duration of rumen incubation time on intestinal digestibility of rumen-undegradable nitrogen of grass by mobile-bag method in cows. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A 46, 1-10.
- Vanhatalo, A., Kuoppala, K., Ahvenjärvi. S. and Rinne, M. (2009). Effects of feeding grass or red clover silage cut at two maturity stages in dairy cows. 1. Nitrogen metabolism and supply of amino acids. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 5620-5633.
- Vanhatalo, A., Pursiainen, P., Kuoppala, K., Rinne, M. and Tuori, M. (2008). Effects of harvest time of red clover silage on milk production and composition. In: *Proceedings of the 22nd* general meeting of the European Grassland federation. 9-12 June, 2008. Uppsala, Sweden. pp. 391-393.
- Varvikko, T. and Vanhatalo, A. (1991). Intestinal nitrogen degradation of hay and grass silage estimated by the mobile bag technique. *World Review of Animal Production* 26, 73-76.
- Varvikko. T. and Lindberg, J. E. (1985). Estimation of microbial nitrogen in nylon-bag residues by feed <sup>15</sup>N dilution. *British Journal of Nutrition* 54, 473-481.
- Verbič, J., Ørskov, E. R., Žgajnar, J., Chen, X. B. and Vida Žnidaršič-Pongrac. (1999). The effect of method of forage preservation on the protein degradability and microbial protein synthesis in the rumen. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 82, 195-212.
- Villeneuve, M. P., Lebeuf, Y., Gervais, R., Tremblay, G. F., Vuillemard, J. C., Fortin, J. and Chouinard, P. Y. (2013). Milk volatile organic compounds and fatty acid profile in cows fed timothy as hay, pasture, or silage. *Journal of Dairy Science* 96, 7181-7194.
- Virtanen, A. I. (1966). Milk production of cows on protein-free feed. Science 153, 1603-1614.
- Walker, N. D., Newbold, C. J. and Wallace, R. J. (2005). Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. In: Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A. N. (eds). *Nitrogen and phosphorus nutrition of cattle: reducing the environmental impact of cattle operations*. CABI Publishing. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK. pp. 71-115.
- Wallace, R. J., Atasoglu, C. and Newbold, J. C. (1999). Role of peptides in rumen microbial metabolism-review. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 12, 139-147.
- Wang, C., Liu, J. X., Zhai, S. W., Lai, J. L. and Wu, Y. M. (2008). Effects of rumen-degradableprotein to rumen-undegradable-protein ratio on nitrogen conversion of lactating dairy cows. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A* 58, 100-103.
- Wastney, M. E., Patterson, B. H., Linares, O. A., Greif, P. C. and Boston, R. C. (1998). Investigating Biological Systems Using Modeling. Academic Press. San Diego, CA, USA.
- Webb, K. E. Jr., Matthews, J. C. and DiRienzo, D. B. (1992). Peptide absorption: a review of current concepts and future perspectives. *Journal of Animal Science* 70, 3248-3257.
- Webb, K. E. Jr. and Bergman, E. N. (1991). Amino acid and peptide absorption and transport across the intestine. In: Tsuda, T., Sasaki, Y. and Kawashima, R. (eds). *Physiological Aspects* of Digestion and Metabolism in Ruminants. Academic Press. San Diego, California, USA. pp. 111-128.
- Webster, A. J. F. (1987). Metabolizable protein the UK approach. In: Jarrige, R. and Alderman. G. (eds). *Feed Evaluation and Protein Requirement Systems for Ruminants*. Commission of the European Communities. Brussels-Luxembourg. pp. 47-53.

- Weiss, W. P. (1994). Estimation of digestibility of forages by laboratory methods. In: Fahey, G. C., Collins, M., Mertens, D. R. and Moser, L. E. (eds). *Forage Quality, Evaluation and Utilization*. ASA, CSSA and SSSA. Wisconsin, USA, pp 644-681.
- Wilkins, R. J. and Jones, R. (2000). Alternative home-grown protein sources for ruminants in the United Kingdom. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 85, 23-32.
- Wilkinson, J.M. (2011). Re-defining efficiency of feed use by livestock. Animal 5, 1014-1022.
- Williams, A. G. and Coleman, G. S. (1992). *The Rumen. Protozoa*. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY, USA. pp. 441.
- Williams, V. J. (1969). The relative rates of absorption of amino acids from the small intestines of the sheep. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 29, 865-870.
- Wright, T. C., Moscardini, S., Luimes, P. H., Susmel, P. and McBride, B. W. (1998). Effects of rumen-undegradable protein and feed intake on nitrogen balance and milk protein production in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81, 784-793.
- Yanke, L. J., Dong, Y., McAllister, T. A., Bae, H. D. and Cheng, K. J. (1993). Comparison of amylolytic and proteolytic activities of ruminal fungi grown on cereal grains. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 39, 817-820.

## Acknowledgements

First, I would like to acknowledge the financial support of the Swedish research council Formas and the Swedish Board of Agriculture, which enabled me to perform the research described in this thesis.

There are a lot of people I would like to thank for their support and help. First of all, I want to thank my supervisors. Pekka Huhtanen, thank you for your patience and for providing motivation at a scientific and personal level. Mårten Hetta, thank you for your encouragement and assistance throughout all these years. Kerstin Huss-Danell, thank you for your support and your always kind words and positive conversations. Seppo Ahvenjärvi, thank you for the support and for the great experiment.

I wish to thank Glen Broderick for supporting my experimental work and always helpful discussions and guidance.

I would like to express my gratitude to all the staff at the Department of Agricultural Research for Northern Sweden and the staff in the research barn (Röbäcksdalen). The colleagues at NJV have been my family for more than four years. You have all played an important role in my education and in the work that has made this thesis possible. A special thanks you to Mrs. Ann-Sofi Hahlin, for not just being an irreplaceable help in the lab but also being an unofficial supervisor and a mentor to me. I would like to thank Ms. Evelina Viklund for assistance with the experiments, but mostly for the support over the years.

I would like offer special thanks to Edward Hernando Cabezas Garcia and Helena Gidlund. We started together and are finishing together, so we had to support each other more than anyone and you guys have supported me a lot, in work and in private life. Edenio Detmann, thank you for being a great friend, your presence made it easier to adjust to life in the cold north and you have been an unforgettable role model.

My friends and family outside the University and Sweden, I felt your support during all the tough times even though you were far away. Thank you all for being there for me.